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Index

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Financial Statements

Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011
 (in thousands, except per share data)

June 30, December 31,
2012 2011

(unaudited)
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $34,604 $34,818
Loans receivable, net 1,619 19,282
Equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 17,978 10,399
Deferred income taxes 2,727 1,268
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,207 4,533
Subtotal 59,135 70,300

Assets of Consolidated Entities
CT Legacy REIT
Restricted cash 15,433 12,985
Securities held-to-maturity — 2,602
Loans receivable, net — 206,514
Loans held-for-sale, net — 30,875
Investment in CT Legacy Asset, at fair value 90,700 —
Accrued interest receivable and other assets — 2,119
Subtotal 106,133 255,095

Securitization Vehicles
Securities held-to-maturity 166,630 358,972
Loans receivable, net 241,644 612,598
Real estate held-for-sale — 10,342
Accrued interest receivable and other assets 10,695 59,009
Subtotal 418,969 1,040,921

Total assets $584,237 $1,366,316

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

- 1 -
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Index

Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011
 (in thousands, except per share data)

June 30, December 31,
2012 2011

(unaudited)
Liabilities & Equity (Deficit)

Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities $12,320 $8,075
Secured notes 8,176 7,847
Participations sold 1,619 19,282
Subtotal 22,115 35,204

Non-Recourse Liabilities of Consolidated Entities
CT Legacy REIT
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities — 743
Repurchase obligations — 58,464
Mezzanine loan, net of unamortized discount — 55,111
Participations sold — 97,465
Interest rate hedge liabilities — 8,817
Subtotal — 220,600

Securitization Vehicles
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 549 3,102
Securitized debt obligations 518,140 1,211,407
Interest rate hedge liabilities 21,193 24,942
Subtotal 539,882 1,239,451

Total liabilities 561,997 1,495,255

Commitments and contingencies — —

Equity (Deficit):
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000 shares
authorized, 21,979
     and 21,967 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30,
2012 and
     December 31, 2011, respectively ("class A common
stock") 220 220
Restricted class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 537 and
244 shares
     issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2012 and
December 31, 2011,
     respectively ("restricted class A common stock" and
together with
     class A common  stock, "common stock") 5 2

Edgar Filing: CAPITAL TRUST INC - Form 10-Q

6



Additional paid-in capital 597,344 597,049
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (33,679 ) (40,584 )
Accumulated deficit (598,275 ) (667,111 )
Total Capital Trust, Inc. shareholders' deficit (34,385 ) (110,424 )

Noncontrolling interests 56,625 (18,515 )

Total equity (deficit) 22,240 (128,939 )

Total liabilities and equity (deficit) $584,237 $1,366,316

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

- 2 -
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2012
and 2011

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011
Income from loans and other investments:
     Interest and related income $6,763 $32,554 $21,479 $69,545
     Less: Interest and related expenses 5,413 32,296 28,754 58,543
          Income from loans and other investments, net 1,350 258 (7,275 ) 11,002

Other revenues:
     Management fees from affiliates 1,610 1,595 3,195 3,174
     Servicing fees 1,365 438 3,385 748
          Total other revenues 2,975 2,033 6,580 3,922

Other expenses:
     General and administrative 4,740 4,649 9,052 14,928
          Total other expenses 4,740 4,649 9,052 14,928

Total other-than-temporary impairments of securities — — — (4,933 )
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments of securities
     recognized in other comprehensive income — — (160 ) (3,271 )
Net impairments recognized in earnings — — (160 ) (8,204 )

Recovery of provision for loan losses — 8,088 8 17,249
Valuation allowance on loans held-for-sale — (224 ) — (224 )
Gain on extinguishment of debt — 937 — 250,976
Fair value adjustment on investment in CT Legacy Assets 3,704 — 7,657 —
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary — — 146,380 —
Income from equity investments 205 842 901 1,797
Income before income taxes 3,494 7,285 145,039 261,590
           Income tax provision 143 1,061 1,066 1,450
Net income $3,351 $6,224 $143,973 $260,140

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,068 ) (8,069 ) (75,137 ) (7,400 )

Net income (loss) attributable to Capital Trust, Inc. $2,283 ($1,845 ) $68,836 $252,740

Per share information:
     Net income (loss) per share of common stock:
          Basic $0.10 ($0.08 ) $3.01 $11.19
          Diluted $0.09 ($0.08 ) $2.83 $10.52

     Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding:
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          Basic 22,893,522 22,723,146 22,865,819 22,580,143
          Diluted 24,426,857 22,723,146 24,353,388 24,024,222

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

- 3 -
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Index

Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive

Income
Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 and

2011
(in thousands)

(unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011

Net income $3,351 $6,224 $143,973 $260,140

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments 1,965 (999 ) 3,749 3,545
Gain on interest rate swaps no longer designated as cash
flow hedges — 3,201 2,481 3,201
Amortization of unrealized gains and losses on securities (8 ) (277 ) (765 ) (506 )
Amortization of deferred gains and losses on settlement of
swaps — (23 ) (56 ) (47 )
Other-than-temporary impairments of securities related to
fair value adjustments in excess of expected credit losses,
net of amortization (174 ) 116 213 3,966
Other comprehensive income 1,783 2,018 5,622 10,159

Comprehensive income $5,134 $8,242 $149,595 $270,299

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to
   noncontrolling interests (1,068 ) (8,068 ) (75,147 ) (7,400 )

Comprehensive income attributable to
   Capital Trust, Inc. $4,066 $174 $74,448 $262,899

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

- 4 -
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 Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Deficit)
 For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011

 (in thousands)
 (unaudited)

Class
A

Common
Stock

Restricted
Class

A
Common

Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Capital

Trust, Inc.
Shareholders'

Deficit
Noncontrolling

Interests Total
Balance at January 1, 2011 $219 $— $559,411 ($50,462) ($920,355) ($411,187) $— ($411,187)

Net income — — — — 252,740 252,740 7,400 260,140
Other comprehensive income — — — 10,159 — 10,159 — 10,159
Allocation to noncontrolling interests — — 37,014 — — 37,014 (12,623 ) 24,391
Restricted class A common stock
earned, net of shares deferred 1 2 230 — — 233 — 233
Deferred directors' compensation — — 94 — — 94 — 94
Balance at June 30, 2011 $220 $2 $596,749 ($40,303) ($667,615) ($110,947) ($5,223 ) ($116,170)

Balance at January 1, 2012 $220 $2 $597,049 ($40,584) ($667,111) ($110,424) ($18,515) ($128,939)

Net income — — — — 68,836 68,836 75,137 143,973
Other comprehensive income — — — 5,612 — 5,612 10 5,622
Deconsolidation of CT Legacy Asset — — — 1,293 — 1,293 — 1,293
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (7 ) (7 )
Restricted class A common stock
earned, net of shares deferred — 3 182 — — 185 — 185
Deferred directors' compensation — — 113 — — 113 — 113
Balance at June 30, 2012 $220 $5 $597,344 ($33,679) ($598,275) ($34,385 ) $56,625 $22,240

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

- 5 -
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2012

and 2011
(in thousands)

(unaudited)

2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
     Net income $143,973 $260,140
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
              operating activities:
          Net impairments recognized in earnings 160 8,204
          Recovery of provision for loan losses (8 ) (17,249 )
          Valuation allowance on loans held-for-sale — 224
          Gain on extinguishment of debt — (250,976 )
          Gain on deconsolidation of CT Legacy Asset (146,380 ) —
          Fair value adjustment on CT Legacy Asset (7,657 ) —
          Income from equity investments (901 ) (1,797 )
          Distributions of income from equity investments 1,710 —
          Employee stock-based compensation 210 317
          Incentive awards plan expense 181 2,980
          Deferred directors' compensation 113 94
          Distributions from CT Legacy Assets 6,634 —
          Amortization of premiums/discounts on loans and securities and deferred
             interest on loans (393 ) (912 )
          Amortization of deferred gains and losses on settlement of swaps (56 ) (47 )
          Amortization of deferred financing costs and premiums/discounts on
             debt obligations 9,846 6,648
          Loss on interest rate swaps not designated as cash flow hedges 2,772 3,970
     Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
          Accrued interest receivable (3,785 ) 2,617
          Deferred income taxes (1,458 ) (939 )
          Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,622 448
          Accounts payable and accrued expenses (1,075 ) (1,283 )
     Net cash provided by operating activities 6,508 12,439

Cash flows from investing activities:
          Principal collections and proceeds from securities 28,122 31,435
          Distributions from equity investments — 3,360
          Principal collections of loans receivable 83,245 1,680,725
          Proceeds from disposition of loans — 5,750
          Contributions to unconsolidated subsidiaries (4,030 ) (1,991 )
          Distributions from unconsolidated subsidiaries 677 2,869
          Increase in restricted cash (2,448 ) (10,225 )
     Net cash provided by investing activities 105,566 1,711,923

Cash flows from financing activities:
          Borrowings under repurchase obligations 123,977 —
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          Repayments under repurchase obligations (58,464 ) (253,336 )
          Repayments under senior credit facility (63,000 ) (22,932 )
          Repayment of junior subordinated notes — (4,640 )
          Borrowing under mezzanine loan — 83,000
          Repayments under mezzanine loan — (20,000 )
          Repayment of securitized debt obligations (114,768 ) (1,490,715 )
          Payment of financing expenses — (11,126 )
          Purchase of and distributions to noncontrolling interests (8 ) (142 )
          Purchase of secured notes — (405 )
          Vesting of restricted Class A common stock (25 ) (85 )
     Net cash used in financing activities (112,288 ) (1,720,381 )

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (214 ) 3,981
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 34,818 24,449
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $34,604 $28,430

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

- 6 -
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Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

Note 1. Organization

References herein to “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Capital Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically
requires otherwise.

We are a fully integrated, self-managed, real estate finance and investment management company that specializes in
credit sensitive financial products. To date, our investment programs have focused on loans and securities backed by
commercial real estate assets. We invest for our own account directly on our balance sheet and for third-parties
through a series of investment management vehicles. Our business model is designed to produce a mix of net interest
margin from our balance sheet investments, and fee income and co-investment income from our investment
management vehicles. In managing our operations, we focus on originating investments, managing our portfolios and
capitalizing our businesses. From the inception of our finance business in 1997 through June 30, 2012, we have
completed approximately $12.0 billion of commercial real estate debt investments. We conduct our operations as a
real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes. We are traded on the New York Stock
Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “CT”, and are headquartered in New York City.

March 2011 Restructuring

On March 31, 2011, we restructured, amended, or extinguished all of our outstanding recourse debt obligations, which
we refer to as our March 2011 restructuring. Our March 2011 restructuring involved: (i) the contribution of certain of
our legacy assets to a newly formed subsidiary, CT Legacy REIT Mezz Borrower, Inc., or CT Legacy REIT, (ii) the
assumption of our legacy repurchase obligations by CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the extinguishment of the remainder of
our recourse obligations, our senior credit facility and junior subordinated notes. The restructuring was financed with
a new $83.0 million mezzanine loan obtained by CT Legacy REIT from an affiliate of Five Mile Capital Partners
LLC, or Five Mile, and the issuance of equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT to the former lenders
under our senior credit facility and our former junior subordinated noteholders, as well as to an affiliate of Five Mile.

Following the completion of our March 2011 restructuring, we no longer have any recourse debt obligations, and
retain unencumbered ownership of 100% of (i) our investment management platform, CT Investment Management
Co., LLC, (ii) our co-investment in CT Opportunity Partners I, LP, (iii) our residual ownership interests in three of the
CDOs that we issued, CT CDOs I, II, and IV, and (iv) our tax-basis net operating losses. Furthermore, we have a 52%
equity interest in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT. Our economic interest in CT Legacy REIT is, however,
subject to (i) the secured notes, which are non-recourse obligations that are collateralized by certain of our retained
equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT, (ii) incentive awards that provide for the participation in
amounts earned from our retained equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the subordinate
class B common stock of CT Legacy REIT owned by our former junior subordinate noteholders.

See Note 5 for further discussion of the secured notes, Note 9 for further discussion of the management incentive
awards plan, and Note 6 for further discussion of the class B common stock.

In addition to our interest in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT, we also own 100% of its outstanding class A
preferred stock. The class A preferred stock initially entitles us to cumulative preferred dividends of $7.5 million per
annum, which dividends will be reduced in January 2013 to the greater of (i) 2.5% of certain of CT Legacy REIT’s
assets, and (ii) $1.0 million per annum.
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CT Legacy Assets Deconsolidation

On February 10, 2012, we refinanced CT Legacy REIT’s mezzanine loan and repurchase facility with a single, new
$124.0 million repurchase facility with JPMorgan. The borrower under the new JP Morgan facility, CT Legacy Asset,
LLC, or CT Legacy Assets, is a wholly owned subsidiary of CT Legacy REIT and owns all of its assets, other than
cash. As a result of the refinancing, CT Legacy REIT ceased to be the primary beneficiary of CT Legacy Assets and,
therefore, discontinued the consolidation of CT Legacy Assets. As a result, its assets and liabilities were
deconsolidated from our financial statements as of February 10, 2012.

See Note 6 for a further discussion of CT Legacy REIT and CT Legacy Assets.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying unaudited consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, for interim financial information and with the
instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information
and notes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. The accompanying unaudited consolidated interim
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related
management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations filed with our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011. In our opinion, all material adjustments (consisting of
normal, recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation, in accordance with GAAP, have been
included. The results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2012 are not necessarily indicative of results that
may be expected for the entire year ending December 31, 2012.

- 7 -
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Index
Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(unaudited)

Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying financial statements include, on a consolidated basis, our accounts, the accounts of our
wholly-owned subsidiaries, and variable interest entities, or VIEs, in which we are the primary beneficiary. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors (i) do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial
interest, and/or (ii) do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support from other parties. The entity that consolidates a VIE is known as its primary
beneficiary, and is generally the entity with (i) the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the
VIE’s economic performance, and (ii) the right to receive benefits from the VIE or the obligation to absorb losses of
the VIE that could be significant to the VIE.

Our consolidated subsidiaries include: (i) CT Legacy REIT, and (ii) five securitization vehicles, including our three
CT CDOs which were sponsored and issued by us and two other similar vehicles. See Note 6 and Note 7 for
additional information on our investments in VIEs.

Balance Sheet Presentation
Our consolidated balance sheets separately present: (i) our direct assets and liabilities, (ii) the direct assets and
liabilities of CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the assets and liabilities of consolidated securitization vehicles, some of which
were subsidiaries of CT Legacy REIT. Assets of all consolidated VIEs can generally only be used to satisfy the
obligations of those VIEs, and the liabilities of consolidated VIEs are non-recourse to us.

We have aggregated all the assets and liabilities of the consolidated securitization vehicles due to our determination
that these entities are substantively similar and therefore a further disaggregated presentation would not be more
meaningful. Similarly, the notes to our consolidated financial statements separately describe (i) our direct assets and
liabilities, (ii) the direct assets and liabilities of CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the assets and liabilities of consolidated
securitization vehicles, some of which were subsidiaries of CT Legacy REIT.

Equity Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Fair Value Option
Our co-investment interests in the private equity funds we manage are accounted for using the equity method. These
entities’ assets and liabilities are not consolidated into our financial statements due to our determination that (i) these
entities are not VIEs, and (ii) the investors have sufficient rights to preclude consolidation by us. As such, we report
our allocable percentage of the earnings or losses of these entities on a single line item in our consolidated statements
of operations as income from equity investments.

One such fund, CT Opportunity Partners I, LP, or CTOPI, maintains its financial records at fair value in accordance
with GAAP. We have applied such accounting relative to our investment in CTOPI, and include any adjustments to
fair value recorded at the fund level in determining the income we record on our equity investment in CTOPI.

We have elected the fair value option of accounting for CT Legacy REIT’s investment in CT Legacy Assets, pursuant
to which we record this investment at fair value rather than at our historical cost investment amount. Additionally,
changes in the fair value of this investment are recognized in our consolidated statement of operations. We made this
election due to our determination that the fair value of the investment in CT Legacy Assets, as a net liquidating
portfolio of assets subject to a non-recourse repurchase obligation, is more meaningful and indicative of our interests
in CT Legacy Assets than equity method accounting. See Note 6 for additional discussion of CT Legacy REIT and CT
Legacy Assets.
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Revenue Recognition
Interest income from our loans receivable is recognized over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method and is recorded on the accrual basis. Fees, premiums, discounts and direct costs associated with these
investments are deferred until the loan is advanced and are then recognized over the term of the loan as an adjustment
to yield. For loans where we have unfunded commitments, we amortize these fees and other items on a straight line
basis. Fees on commitments that expire unused are recognized at expiration. Income accrual is generally suspended
for loans at the earlier of the date at which payments become 90 days past due or when, in the opinion of management,
recovery of income and principal becomes doubtful. Income is then recorded on the basis of cash received until
accrual is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed.

- 8 -
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Index
Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(unaudited)

Interest income from our securities is recognized using a level yield with any purchase premium or discount accreted
through income over the life of the security. This yield is calculated using cash flows expected to be collected which
are based on a number of assumptions on the underlying loans. Examples include, among other things, the rate and
timing of principal payments, including prepayments, repurchases, defaults and liquidations, the pass-through or
coupon rate, and interest rates. Additional factors that may affect reported interest income on our securities include
interest payment shortfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage loans and the timing and magnitude of
expected credit losses on the mortgage loans underlying the securities. These are impacted by, among other things, the
general condition of the real estate market, including competition for tenants and their related credit quality, and
changes in market rental rates. These uncertainties and contingencies are difficult to predict and are subject to future
events that may alter the assumptions.

Fees from special servicing and asset management services are recorded on an accrual basis as services are rendered
under the applicable agreements, and when receipt of fees is reasonably certain. We do not recognize incentive
income from our investment management business until contingencies have been eliminated. Recognition of incentive
income allocated or paid to us prior to that date is deferred and recorded as deferred incentive income liability under
accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. Depending on the structure
of our investment management vehicles, certain incentive fees may be in the form of carried interest or promote
distributions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We classify highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase as
cash equivalents. We place our cash and cash equivalents with high credit quality institutions to minimize credit risk
exposure. As of, and for the periods ended, June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we had bank balances in excess of
federally insured amounts. We have not experienced any losses on our demand deposits, commercial paper or money
market investments.

Restricted Cash
We classify the cash balances held by CT Legacy REIT as restricted because, while these cash balances are available
for use by CT Legacy REIT for operations, debt service, or other purposes, they cannot be used by us until our
allocable share is distributed from CT Legacy REIT, and cannot be co-mingled with any of our other, unrestricted
cash balances. See Note 6 for additional discussion of CT Legacy REIT.

Securities
We classify our securities as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, or trading on the date of acquisition of the
investment. Held-to-maturity investments are stated at cost, adjusted for the amortization of any premiums or
discounts, which are amortized through our consolidated statements of operations using the level yield method
described above. Other than in the instance of an other-than-temporary impairment, as discussed below, these
held-to-maturity investments are carried on our consolidated financial statements at their amortized cost basis.

We may also invest in securities which may be classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried
at estimated fair value with the net unrealized gains or losses reported as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. Changes in the valuations do not affect our reported income or
cash flows, but do impact shareholders’ equity and, accordingly, book value per share. On August 4, 2005, we changed
the accounting classification of certain of our securities from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity. We have not
designated any securities as available-for-sale since that time.
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Further, as required under GAAP, when, based on current information and events, there has been an adverse change in
the cash flows expected to be collected from those previously estimated for one of our securities, an
other-than-temporary impairment is deemed to have occurred. A change in expected cash flows is considered adverse
if the present value of the revised cash flows (taking into consideration both the timing and amount of cash flows
expected to be collected) discounted using the security’s current yield is less than the present value of the previously
estimated remaining cash flows, adjusted for cash receipts during the intervening period.

Should an other-than-temporary impairment be deemed to have occurred, the security is written down to fair value.
The total other-than-temporary impairment is bifurcated into (i) the amount related to expected credit losses, and (ii)
the amount related to fair value adjustments in excess of expected credit losses, or the Valuation Adjustment. The
portion of the other-than-temporary impairment related to expected credit losses is calculated by comparing the
amortized cost basis of the security to the present value of cash flows expected to be collected, discounted at the
security’s current yield, and is recognized through earnings in the consolidated statement of operations. The remaining
other-than-temporary impairment related to the Valuation Adjustment is recognized as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. A portion of other-than-temporary impairments recognized
through earnings is accreted back to the amortized cost basis of the security through interest income, while amounts
recognized through other comprehensive income (loss) are amortized over the life of the security with no impact on
earnings.

- 9 -
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Loans Receivable, Provision for Loan Losses, Loans Held-for-Sale and Related Allowance
We purchase and originate commercial real estate debt and related instruments, or Loans, generally to be held as
long-term investments at amortized cost. Management is required to periodically evaluate each of these Loans for
possible impairment. Impairment is indicated when it is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the contractual terms of the Loan. If a Loan is determined to be impaired, we write down
the Loan through a charge to the provision for loan losses. Impairment on these loans is measured by comparing the
estimated fair value of the underlying collateral to the book value of the respective loan. These valuations require
significant judgments, which include assumptions regarding capitalization rates, leasing, creditworthiness of major
tenants, occupancy rates, availability of financing, exit plan, loan sponsorship, actions of other lenders and other
factors deemed necessary by management. Actual losses, if any, could ultimately differ from these estimates.

In conjunction with our quarterly loan portfolio review, management assesses the performance of each loan, and
assigns a risk rating based on several factors including risk of loss, loan-to-value ratio, or LTV, collateral
performance, structure, exit plan, and sponsorship. Loans are rated one through eight, which are defined as follows:

1 -Low Risk: A loan that is expected to perform through maturity, with relatively lower LTV, higher in-place debt
yield, and stable projected cash flow.

2 -Average Risk: A loan that is expected to perform through maturity, with medium LTV, average in-place debt yield,
and stable projected cash flow.

3
-

Acceptable Risk: A loan that is expected to perform through maturity, with relatively higher LTV, acceptable
in-place debt yield, and some uncertainty (due to lease rollover or other factors) in projected cash flow.

4 - Higher Risk: A loan that is expected to perform through maturity, but has exhibited a material deterioration
in cash flow and/or other credit factors. If negative trends continue, default could occur.

5 -Low Probability of Default/Loss: A loan with one or more identified weakness that we expect to have a 15%
probability of default or principal loss.

6 -Medium Probability of Default/Loss: A loan with one or more identified weakness that we expect to have a 33%
probability of default or principal loss.

7
-

High Probability of Default/Loss: A loan with one or more identified weakness that we expect to have a 67% or
higher probability of default or principal loss.

8 - In Default: A loan which is in contractual default and/or which has a very high likelihood of principal loss.

In addition, for certain pools of smaller loans which have similar credit characteristics, primarily loans with an
outstanding principal balance of $10.0 million or less in our consolidated securitization vehicles, we have recorded a
general provision for loan losses in lieu of the asset-specific provisions we record on all other loans. This general
provision is based on macroeconomic data with respect to historic loan losses, vintage, property type, and other
factors deemed relevant for such loan pools. These loans do not undergo the same level of asset management as our
larger investments.
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In certain cases, we may classify loans as held-for-sale based upon the specific facts and circumstances of particular
Loans, including known or expected transactions. Loans held-for-sale are carried at the lower of their amortized cost
basis and fair value. A reduction in the fair value of loans held-for-sale is recorded as a charge to our consolidated
statement of operations as a valuation allowance on loans held-for-sale.

Real Estate Held-for-Sale
Loan investments where we have foreclosed upon the underlying collateral and own an equity interest in real estate
are categorized as real estate owned. We generally do not intend to hold such foreclosed assets for long-term
operations and therefore classify such assets as real estate held-for-sale on our consolidated balance sheets. Real estate
held-for-sale are carried at the lower of our basis in the real estate and fair value, less cost to sell, with reductions in
fair value recorded as an impairment of real estate-held-for-sale on our consolidated statements of operations.

- 10 -
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Deferred Financing Costs
The deferred financing costs which are included in prepaid expenses and other assets on our consolidated balance
sheets include issuance costs related to our debt obligations, and are amortized using the effective interest method, or
a method that approximates the effective interest method, over the life of the related obligations.

Repurchase Obligations
In certain circumstances, we have financed the purchase of investments from a counterparty through a repurchase
obligation with that same counterparty. We record these investments in the same manner as other investments
financed with repurchase obligation, with the investment recorded as an asset and the related borrowing under any
repurchase agreement recorded as a liability on our consolidated balance sheets. Interest income earned on the
investments and interest expense incurred on the repurchase obligations are reported separately on our consolidated
statements of operations.

Interest Rate Derivative Financial Instruments
In the normal course of business, we use interest rate derivative financial instruments to manage, or hedge, cash flow
variability caused by interest rate fluctuations. Specifically, we currently use interest rate swaps to effectively convert
floating rate liabilities that are financing fixed rate assets to fixed rate liabilities. The differential to be paid or received
on these agreements is recognized on the accrual basis as an adjustment to the interest expense related to the attendant
liability. The interest rate swap agreements are generally accounted for on a held-to-maturity basis, and, in cases
where they are terminated early, any gain or loss is generally amortized over the remaining life of the hedged item.
These swap agreements must be effective in reducing the variability of cash flows of the hedged items in order to
qualify for the aforementioned hedge accounting treatment. Changes in value of effective cash flow hedges are
reflected on our consolidated financial statements through accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and do not
affect our net income (loss). To the extent a derivative does not qualify for hedge accounting, and is deemed a
non-hedge derivative, the changes in its value are included in net income (loss).

To determine the fair value of interest rate derivative financial instruments, we use a third-party derivative specialist
to assist us in periodically valuing our interests.

Income Taxes
Our financial results generally do not reflect provisions for current or deferred income taxes on our REIT taxable
income. Management believes that we operate in a manner that will continue to allow us to be taxed as a REIT and, as
a result, we generally do not expect to pay substantial corporate level taxes other than those payable by our taxable
REIT subsidiaries. Many of these requirements, however, are highly technical and complex. If we were to fail to meet
these requirements, we may be subject to federal, state and local income tax on current and past income, and penalties.
See Note 10 for additional information.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense is recognized in net income using a fair value measurement method, which we
determine with the assistance of a third-party appraisal firm. Compensation expense for the time vesting of
stock-based compensation grants is recognized on the accelerated attribution method and compensation expense for
performance vesting of stock-based compensation grants is recognized on a straight line basis.

The fair value of the performance vesting restricted common stock is measured on the grant date using a Monte Carlo
simulation to estimate the probability of the market vesting conditions being satisfied. The Monte Carlo simulation is
run approximately 100,000 times. For each simulation, the payoff is calculated at the settlement date, and is then
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discounted to the grant date at a risk-free interest rate. The average of the values over all simulations is the expected
value of the restricted common stock on the grant date. The valuation is performed in a risk-neutral framework, so no
assumption is made with respect to an equity risk premium. Significant assumptions used in the valuation include an
expected term and stock price volatility, an estimated risk-free interest rate and an estimated dividend growth rate.

Estimates of fair value are not intended to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by employees
who receive equity awards, and subsequent events are not indicative of the reasonableness of the original estimates of
fair value made by us.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Total comprehensive income was $149.6 million and $270.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and
2011, respectively. The primary components of comprehensive income other than net income are the unrealized gains
and losses on derivative financial instruments and the component of other-than-temporary impairments of securities
related to the Valuation Adjustment.

- 11 -
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Earnings per Share of Common Stock
Basic earnings per share, or EPS, is computed based on the net earnings allocable to common stock and stock units,
divided by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and stock units outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is determined using the treasury stock method, and is based on the net earnings allocable to common
stock and stock units, divided by the weighted average number of shares of common stock, stock units and potentially
dilutive common stock options and warrants. See Note 8 for additional discussion of earnings per share.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made in the presentation of the prior period consolidated financial statements to
conform to the June 30, 2012 presentation.

Segment Reporting
We operate in two reportable segments. We have an internal information system that produces performance and asset
data for the two segments along service lines.

The Balance Sheet Investment segment includes our consolidated portfolio of interest earning assets and the financing
thereof. The Investment Management segment includes the investment management activities of our wholly-owned
investment management subsidiary, CT Investment Management Co., LLC, or CTIMCO, and its subsidiaries, as well
as our co-investments in investment management vehicles. CTIMCO is a taxable REIT subsidiary and serves as the
investment manager of Capital Trust, Inc., all of our investment management vehicles and CT CDOs, and serves as
senior servicer and special servicer for certain of our investments and for third-parties.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” Topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB,
Accounting Standards Codification, or the Codification, defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value, and requires certain disclosures about fair value measurements under GAAP. Specifically, this guidance defines
fair value based on exit price, or the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or the transfer of a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Our assets and liabilities which are
measured at fair value are discussed in Note 12.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In April 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-02, “Receivables (Topic 310): A Creditor’s
Determination of Whether a Restructuring Is a Troubled Debt Restructuring,” or ASU 2011-02. ASU 2011-02
primarily clarifies when creditors should classify loan modifications as troubled debt restructurings and provides
examples and factors to be considered. Loan modifications which are considered troubled debt restructurings could
result in additional disclosure requirements and could impact the related provision for loan losses. ASU 2011-02 is
effective for the first interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2011, with retrospective application to the
beginning of the year. The adoption of ASU 2011-02 did not have a material impact on our financial statements,
however will impact how we account for loan modifications, and may result in an increase in the loan modifications
we classify as troubled debt restructurings, and therefore our provision for loan losses.

Edgar Filing: CAPITAL TRUST INC - Form 10-Q

24



In April 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-03, “Transfers and Servicing (Topic 860):
Reconsideration of Effective Control for Repurchase Agreements,” or ASU 2011-03. ASU 2011-03 primarily removes
certain criteria from the consideration of effective control over assets subject to repurchase agreements. The removal
of these criteria will generally result in asset transfers pursuant to repurchase agreements being accounted for as
secured borrowings, with both the transferred assets and repurchase liability recorded on the transferor’s balance sheet.
ASU 2011-03 is effective for the first interim or annual period beginning after December 15, 2011, and is to be
applied prospectively to transactions which occur subsequent to the effective date. The adoption of ASU 2011-03 did
not have a material impact on our financial statements.
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In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-04, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 860):
Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs,”
or ASU 2011-04. ASU 2011-04 amends existing guidance on fair value measurements related to (i) instruments held
in a portfolio, (ii) instruments classified within shareholders’ equity, (iii) application of the “highest and best use”
concept to nonfinancial assets, (iv) application of blockage factors and other premiums and discounts in the valuation
process, and (v) other matters. In addition, ASU 2011-04 expanded the required disclosures around fair value
measurements including (i) reporting the level in the fair value hierarchy used to value assets and liabilities which are
not measured at fair value, but where fair value is disclosed, and (ii) qualitative disclosures about the sensitivity of
Level 3 fair value measurements to changes in unobservable inputs used. ASU 2011-04 is effective for the first
interim or annual period beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of ASU 2011-04 did not have a material
impact on our financial statements, however it did expand our disclosures related to fair value measurements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-05, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220):
Presentation of Comprehensive Income,” or ASU 2011-05. ASU 2011-05 does not change the items that must be
reported in other comprehensive income, however it eliminates the option to present other comprehensive income on
the statement of shareholders’ equity and instead requires either (i) a continuous statement of comprehensive income
which would replace the current statement of operations, or (ii) an additional statement of other comprehensive
income, which would immediately follow the statement of operations, and would report the components of other
comprehensive income. In December 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-12, “Comprehensive
Income (Topic 220): Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassification Items Out
of Accumulated Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update 2011-05,” or ASU 2011-12. ASU 2011-12
maintained the presentation requirements for comprehensive income under ASU 2011-05, however deferred the
requirement to present certain reclassification adjustments into and out of accumulated other comprehensive income
on a gross basis. ASU 2011-05 and ASU 20011-12 are both effective for the first interim or annual period beginning
after December 15, 2011, and should be applied retrospectively to all periods reported after the effective date. Our
early adoption, as permitted, of ASU 2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 as of December 31, 2011 did not have a material
impact on our financial statements, other than the change in presentation of comprehensive income as a separate
financial statement.

Note 3. Loans Receivable, Net and Loan Participations Sold

As described in Note 1, in conjunction with our March 2011 restructuring of our recourse debt obligations, a
significant portion of our assets, including all of our loans, were transferred to a majority-owned subsidiary, CT
Legacy REIT. Our only remaining loan has been sold to a third-party and recorded as a participation sold asset and
liability. In addition, as described in Note 2, our consolidated balance sheets separately state our direct assets and
liabilities and certain assets and liabilities of consolidated subsidiaries. See Note 6 for disclosures regarding loans
receivable that have been transferred to CT Legacy REIT, and see Note 7 for comparable disclosures regarding loans
receivable that are held in consolidated securitization vehicles, as separately stated on our consolidated balance sheets.

Participations sold represent interests in certain loans that we originated and subsequently sold to one of our
investment management vehicles or to third-parties. We present these participations sold as both assets and
non-recourse liabilities because these arrangements do not qualify as sales under GAAP. Generally, participations sold
are recorded as assets and liabilities in equal amounts on our consolidated balance sheets, and an equivalent amount of
interest income and interest expense is recorded on our consolidated statements of operations. However, impaired loan
assets must be reduced through the provision for loans losses while the associated non-recourse liability cannot be
reduced until the participation has been contractually extinguished. This can result in an imbalance between the loan
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participations sold asset and liability. We have no economic exposure to these liabilities.

We have one such loan participation sold with a balance of $1.6 million, and a coupon of LIBOR + 5.00% as of June
30, 2012. The loan matures on November 6, 2013.

Note 4. Equity Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries

Our equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries consist of our co-investments in investment management
vehicles that we sponsor and manage. As of June 30, 2012, we had a co-investment in two such vehicles, CT
Opportunity Partners I, LP, or CTOPI, and CT High Grade Partners II, LLC, or CT High Grade II. We have a
commitment to invest up to $25.0 million in CTOPI, or 4.6% of CTOPI’s total capital commitments. We have funded
$17.1 million of our commitment as of June 30, 2012 and received $6.5 million as a return of capital, resulting in a
$10.5 million funded and a $14.5 million unfunded commitment balance.

- 13 -
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During April 2012, we purchased a 0.44% interest in CT High Grade II from an existing investor for $2.8 million,
representing our initial co-investment in CT High Grade II. Our co-investment represents a $2.9 million total capital
commitment to CT High Grade II, of which our unfunded commitment is $480,000 as of June 30, 2012.

Activity relating to our equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was
as follows (in thousands):

CTOPI
CT High
 Grade II Total

December 31, 2011 $10,399 $— $10,399

Contributions 1,241 2,789 4,030
Income from equity investments (1) 5,894 42 5,936
Distributions (2,387 ) — (2,387 )

June 30, 2012 $15,147 $2,831 $17,978

(1) Includes $5.0 million of incentive income allocated to us from CTOPI under the equity
method of accounting. This incentive income has not been recognized into earnings, but
recorded as a deferred incentive income liability under accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.

In accordance with the CTOPI management agreement, CTIMCO may earn incentive compensation when certain
returns are achieved for the partners of CTOPI, which will be accrued if and when earned, and when appropriate
contingencies have been eliminated. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, we were allocated $5.0 million of
such incentive compensation from CTOPI, however no cash has been collected and we have deferred recognition of
all $5.0 million of incentive income.

As of June 30, 2012, our maximum exposure to loss from CTOPI and CT High Grade II was $8.2 million and $2.8
million, respectively.

Note 5. Debt Obligations

As described in Note 1, on March 31, 2011, we restructured, amended, or extinguished all of our outstanding recourse
debt obligations. In addition, as described in Note 1, our consolidated balance sheets separately state our direct assets
and liabilities and certain assets and liabilities of consolidated subsidiaries. See Note 6 for disclosures regarding debt
obligations of CT Legacy REIT, and see Note 7 for comparable disclosures regarding debt obligations of consolidated
securitization vehicles, all of which are non-recourse to us, as separately stated on our consolidated balance sheets.

In conjunction with our March 2011 restructuring and the corresponding satisfaction of our senior credit facility and
junior subordinated notes, wholly-owned subsidiaries issued secured notes to these former creditors, which secured
notes are non-recourse to us. The secured notes had an aggregate initial face balance of $7.8 million and are secured
by 93.5% of our equity interests in the class A-1 and class A-2 common stock of CT Legacy REIT, which represents
48.3% of the total outstanding class A-1 and class A-2 common stock of CT Legacy REIT. The secured notes mature
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on March 31, 2016 and bear interest at a rate of 8.2% per annum, which interest may be deferred until maturity. All
dividends we receive from our equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT which serve as collateral
under the secured notes must be used to pay, or prepay, interest and principal due thereunder, and only after the notes’
full satisfaction will we receive any cash flow from the common equity interests in CT Legacy REIT that serve as
collateral for the notes. Any prepayment, or partial prepayment, of the secured notes will incur a prepayment premium
resulting in a total payment of principal and interest under the secured notes of $11.1 million.

We had secured notes outstanding with an accreted book value of $8.2 million and $7.8 million as of June 30, 2012
and December 31, 2011, respectively.

Note 6. CT Legacy REIT

As discussed in Note 1, in connection with the March 2011 restructuring, we transferred substantially all of our
directly held interest earning assets to a subsidiary of CT Legacy REIT. CT Legacy REIT is beneficially owned 52%
by us, 24% by an affiliate of Five Mile, and 24% by the former lenders under our senior credit facility. In addition, the
former holders of our junior subordinated notes received class B common stock, a subordinate class of common stock
which entitles its holders to receive approximately 25% of the dividends that would otherwise be payable to us on our
equity interest in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT, after aggregate cash distributions of $50.0 million have been
paid to all other classes of common stock. We manage CT Legacy REIT and CT Legacy Assets as a liquidating
portfolio.

- 14 -
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On February 10, 2012, we refinanced CT Legacy REIT’s mezzanine loan and repurchase facility with a single, new
$124.0 million repurchase facility with JPMorgan. The borrower under the new JP Morgan facility, CT Legacy
Assets, is a wholly owned subsidiary of CT Legacy REIT and owns all of its assets, other than cash. As a result of the
refinancing, CT Legacy REIT, and therefore we, discontinued consolidation of CT Legacy Assets. As a result, its
assets and liabilities were deconsolidated from our financial statements as of February 10, 2012. We recognized a gain
of $146.4 million on the deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets, which was primarily the reversal of charges to GAAP
equity resulting from losses previously recorded in excess of our economic interests in securitization vehicles which
were consolidated by CT Legacy Assets.

As of June 30, 2012, our consolidated balance sheet includes (i) restricted cash of $15.4 million at CT Legacy REIT,
and (ii) a $90.7 million investment in CT Legacy Assets, a 100% owned subsidiary of CT Legacy REIT. Prior to
February 10, 2012, CT Legacy Assets was consolidated and therefore our consolidated balance sheet included its
loans receivables, securities held-to-maturity, other assets, debt obligations and other liabilities.

The liabilities of CT Legacy Assets are all non-recourse to CT Legacy REIT and us. Neither we, nor CT Legacy REIT
is obligated to provide, nor have we or CT Legacy REIT provided, any financial support to CT Legacy Assets.

As described in Note 2, our consolidated balance sheets separately present: (i) our direct assets and liabilities, (ii) the
direct assets and liabilities of CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the assets and liabilities of consolidated securitization
vehicles. The following disclosures relate specifically to the direct assets and liabilities of CT Legacy REIT, as
separately stated on our consolidated balance sheets.

A. Securities Held-to-Maturity – CT Legacy REIT

CT Legacy REIT’s securities portfolio consists of CMBS, CDOs, and other securities. Activity relating to these
securities for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was as follows (in thousands):

CMBS CDOs & Other
Total

Book Value

December 31, 2011 $1,346 $1,256 $2,602

Principal paydowns (17 ) — (17 )
Discount/premium amortization & other 18 7 25
Deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets (1) (1,347 ) (1,263 ) (2,610 )

June 30, 2012 $— $— $—

(1) As further described above, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a result, these
securities are no longer included in our consolidated financial statements.

- 15 -
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The following table details overall statistics for CT Legacy REIT’s securities portfolio as of June 30, 2012 and
December 31, 2011:

June 30, 2012 December 31,
2011

Number of securities  ─ 6
Number of issues  ─ 5
Rating (1) (2)  N/A CCC+
Fixed / Floating (in millions) (3)  $─ / $─ $2 / $1
Coupon (1) (4)  N/A 5.43%
Yield (1) (4)  N/A 3.31%
Life (years) (1) (5)  N/A 4.9

(1) Represents a weighted average as of December 31, 2011.
(2) Weighted average ratings are based on the lowest rating published by Fitch Ratings,

Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investors Service for each security.
(3) Represents the aggregate net book value of the portfolio allocated between fixed rate and

floating rate securities.
(4) Coupon is based on the securities’ contractual interest rates, while yield is based on

expected cash flows for each security, and considers discounts/premiums and asset
non-performance. Calculations for floating rate securities are based on LIBOR of 0.30%
as of December 31, 2011.

(5) Weighted average life is based on the timing and amount of future expected principal
payments through the expected repayment date of each respective investment.

The table below details the ratings and vintage distribution of CT Legacy REIT’s securities as of December 31, 2011
(in thousands):

Rating as of December 31, 2011
CCC and

Vintage B Below Total
2003 $— $1,256 $1,256
1997 179 — 179
1996 — 1,167 1,167
Total $179 $2,423 $2,602

Other-than-temporary impairments

The following table summarizes activity related to the other-than-temporary impairments of CT Legacy REIT’s
securities during the six months ended June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

Gross
Other-Than-Temporary

Impairments

Credit Related
Other-Than-Temporary

Impairments

Non-Credit Related
Other-Than-Temporary

Impairments

December 31, 2011 $26,557 $26,105 $452
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Amortization of other-than-temporary
     impairments (24 ) (11 ) (13 )
Deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets (1) (26,533 ) (26,094 ) (439 )

June 30, 2012 $— $— $—

(1) As further described in Note 1 above, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a
result, these securities, some of which were other-than-temporarily impaired, are no longer included in our
consolidated financial statements.

Unrealized losses and fair value of securities

Certain of CT Legacy REIT’s securities were carried at values in excess of their fair values. This difference can be
caused by, among other things, changes in credit spreads and interest rates.
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The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of securities for which the fair value is lower than
their book value as of December 31, 2011, and that are not deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired (in
millions):

Less Than 12 Months Greater Than 12 Months Total

Gross Gross Gross
Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized

Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss
Book
Value (1)

Floating
Rate $— $— $0.2 ($1.1 ) $0.2 ($1.1 ) $1.3

Fixed
Rate 1.2 — — — 1.2 — 1.2

Total $1.2 $— $0.2 ($1.1 ) $1.4 ($1.1 ) $2.5

(1) Excludes, as of December 31, 2011, $179,000 of securities which were carried at or below fair value and
securities against which an other-than-temporary impairment equal to the entire book value was recognized in
earnings.

As of December 31, 2011, two of CT Legacy REIT's securities with an aggregate book value of $2.5 million were
carried at a value in excess of their fair value. Fair value for these securities was $1.4 million as of December 31,
2011. In total, as of December 31, 2011, CT Legacy REIT had six investments in securities with an aggregate book
value of $2.6 million that have an estimated fair value of $1.6 million, including two investments in CMBS with an
estimated fair value of $1.4 million and four investments in CDOs and other securities with an estimated fair value of
$158,000.

We determine fair values using third-party dealer assessments of value, and our own internal financial model-based
estimations of fair value. See Note 12 for further discussion of fair value.

Our estimation of cash flows expected to be generated by our securities portfolio is based upon an internal review of
the underlying loans securing our investments both on an absolute basis and compared to our initial underwriting for
each investment. Our efforts are supplemented by third-party research reports, third-party market assessments and our
dialogue with market participants. We attribute the difference between book value and estimated fair value to the
current market dislocation and a general negative bias against structured financial products such as CMBS and CDOs.

B. Loans Receivable, Net – CT Legacy REIT

Activity relating to CT Legacy REIT’s loans receivable for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was as follows (in
thousands):

Gross Book
Value

Provision for
Loan Losses

Net Book
Value (1)
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December 31, 2011 $436,314 ($229,800 ) $206,514

Principal paydowns (254 ) — (254 )
Discount/premium amortization & other 28 — 28
Deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets (2) (436,088 ) 229,800 (206,288 )

June 30, 2012 $— $— $—

(1) Includes loans with a total principal balance of $436.0 million as of December 31, 2011.
(2) As further described above, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a result, these loans are no longer

included in our consolidated financial statements.
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The following table details overall statistics for CT Legacy REIT’s loans receivable portfolio as of June 30, 2012 and
December 31, 2011:

June 30, 2012 December 31,
2011

Number of
investments

 ─ 17

Fixed / Floating (in
millions) (1)

 $─ / $─ $56 / $151

Coupon (2) (3)  N/A 4.59%
Yield (2) (3)  N/A 5.21%
Maturity (years) (2)
(4)

 N/A 1.4

(1) Represents the aggregate net book value of the portfolio allocated between fixed rate and
floating rate loans.

(2) Represents a weighted average as of December 31, 2011.
(3) Calculations for floating rate loans are based on LIBOR of 0.30% as of December 31,

2011.
(4) Represents the final maturity of each investment assuming all extension options are

executed.

The tables below detail the types of loans in CT Legacy REIT’s portfolio, as well as the property type and geographic
distribution of the properties securing these loans, as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011

Asset Type
Book
Value Percentage Book Value Percentage

Senior mortgages $— ― % $77,986 37 %
Subordinate interests in mortgages — — 58,078 28
Mezzanine loans — — 47,271 23
Other — — 23,179 12
Total $— ― % $206,514 100 %

Property Type
Book
Value Percentage Book Value Percentage

Office $— ― % $84,519 41 %
Hotel — — 75,240 36
Multifamily — — 14,212 7
Other — — 32,543 16
Total $— ― % $206,514 100 %

Geographic Location
Book
Value Percentage Book Value Percentage

Northeast $— ― % $64,040 31 %
Southwest — — 40,353 19
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West — — 38,179 18
Southeast — — 20,076 10
Northwest — — 9,364 5
International — — 34,502 17
Total $— ― % $206,514 100 %

Loan risk ratings

Quarterly, management evaluates CT Legacy REIT’s loan portfolio for impairment as described in Note 2. In
conjunction with our quarterly loan portfolio review, management assesses the performance of each loan, and assigns
a risk rating based on several factors including risk of loss, LTV, collateral performance, structure, exit plan, and
sponsorship. Loans are rated one (less risk) through eight (greater risk), which ratings are defined in Note 2.

The following table allocates the net book value and principal balance of CT Legacy REIT’s loans receivable based on
our internal risk ratings as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

- 18 -
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Loans Receivable as of June 30, 2012 Loans Receivable as of December 31, 2011

Risk
Rating

Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book
Value

Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

1 - 3 — $— $— 5 $91,940 $92,333
4 - 5 — — — 5 64,151 64,127
6 - 8 — — — 7 279,882 50,054

Total — $— $— 17 $435,973 $206,514

In making this risk assessment, one of the primary factors we consider is how senior or junior each loan is relative to
other debt obligations of the borrower. The following tables further allocate CT Legacy REIT’s loans receivable by
both loan type and our internal risk ratings as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

  Senior Mortgage Loans
  as of June 30, 2012   as of December 31, 2011

Risk Number Principal Net Number Principal Net

Rating of Loans Balance
Book
Value of Loans Balance Book Value

1 - 3 — $— $— 1 $27,503 $27,503
4 - 5 — — — 2 21,000 20,976
6 - 8 — — — 2 42,569 29,507

Total — $— $— 5 $91,072 $77,986

  Subordinate Interests in Mortgages
  as of June 30, 2012   as of December 31, 2011

Risk Number Principal Net Number Principal Net

Rating of Loans Balance
Book
Value of Loans Balance Book Value

1 - 3 — $— $— 1 $13,000 $13,000
4 - 5 — — — 1 24,531 24,531
6 - 8 — — — 4 85,024 20,547

Total — $— $— 6 $122,555 $58,078

  Mezzanine & Other Loans
  as of June 30, 2012   as of December 31, 2011

Risk Number Principal Net Number Principal Net

Rating of Loans Balance
Book
Value of Loans Balance Book Value

1 - 3 — $— $— 3 $51,437 $51,830
4 - 5 — — — 2 18,620 18,620
6 - 8 — — — 1 152,289 —

Total — $— $— 6 $222,346 $70,450

C. Loans Held-for-Sale, Net – CT Legacy REIT
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Activity relating to CT Legacy REIT’s loans held-for-sale for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was as follows (in
thousands):

Gross Book Value
Valuation
Allowance Net Book Value

December 31, 2011 $32,331 ($1,456 ) $30,875

Deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets (1) (32,331 ) 1,456 (30,875 )

June 30, 2012 $— $— $—

(1) As further described above, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a result, these
loans held-for-sale are no longer included in our consolidated financial statements.
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D. Debt Obligations – CT Legacy REIT

As of June 30, 2012, CT Legacy REIT did not have any debt obligations outstanding. As of December 31, 2011, CT
Legacy REIT had $113.6 million of total debt obligations outstanding. The balances of each category of debt were as
follows (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,
2012 2011

Debt Obligations
Principal

Balance (1)
Book

Value (1)
Principal
Balance

Book
Value

Repurchase obligation
(JPMorgan) $— $— $58,464 $58,464

Mezzanine loan — — 65,275 55,111

Total/Weighted Average $— $— $123,739 $113,575

(1) As further described above, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a
result, these debt obligations are no longer included in our consolidated financial statements.

Repurchase Obligations

In conjunction with our restructuring on March 31, 2011, our legacy repurchase obligations were assumed by
wholly-owned subsidiaries of CT Legacy REIT, and the recourse to Capital Trust, Inc. was eliminated. On February
10, 2012, we refinanced CT Legacy REIT’s one remaining repurchase facility and its mezzanine loan with a single,
new $124.0 million repurchase facility with JPMorgan. The new facility is an obligation of CT Legacy Assets,
matures in December 2014, carries a rate of LIBOR+6.00% as of June 30, 2012, and has paydown hurdles and
associated potential rate increases over the term of the facility. As a result of the refinancing, CT Legacy REIT, and
therefore we, discontinued consolidation of CT Legacy Assets. See Note 1 and the introduction to Note 6 for further
discussion on the deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets

Mezzanine Loan

On March 31, 2011, CT Legacy REIT entered into an $83.0 million mezzanine loan with Five Mile that carried an
interest rate of 15.0% per annum, of which 7.0% may be deferred, and that had a maturity date of March 31, 2016.
The mezzanine loan was not recourse to Capital Trust, Inc. except for certain limited non-recourse, “bad boy” carve
outs.

As of December 31, 2011, the mezzanine loan had an outstanding principal balance of $65.3 million (including
deferred interest) and a book balance of $55.1 million. As discussed above, on February 10, 2012, we refinanced CT
Legacy REIT’s JPMorgan repurchase facility and its mezzanine loan with a single, new $124.0 million repurchase
facility with JPMorgan. As a result of the refinancing, CT Legacy REIT, and therefore we, discontinued consolidation
of CT Legacy Assets. See Note 1 and the introduction to Note 6 for further discussion on the deconsolidation of CT
Legacy Assets.
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E. Participations Sold – CT Legacy REIT

Participations sold represent interests in certain loans that we originated and subsequently sold to one of our
investment management vehicles or to third-parties. We present these participations sold as both assets and
non-recourse liabilities because these arrangements do not qualify as sales under GAAP. Generally, participations sold
are recorded as assets and liabilities in equal amounts on our consolidated balance sheets, and an equivalent amount of
interest income and interest expense is recorded on our consolidated statements of operations. However, impaired loan
assets must be reduced through the provision for loans losses while the associated non-recourse liability cannot be
reduced until the participation has been contractually extinguished. This can result in an imbalance between the loan
participations sold asset and liability. We have no economic exposure to these liabilities.
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The following table describes CT Legacy REIT’s participations sold assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2011 (in
thousands):

June 30, December 31,
2012 2011

Participations sold assets
Gross carrying value $— $97,465
Less: Provision for loan losses — (97,465 )
Net book value of assets — —

Participations sold liabilities
Net book value of liabilities — 97,465
Net impact to shareholders' equity $— ($97,465 )

F. Derivative Financial Instruments – CT Legacy REIT

As discussed in Note 1, on February 10, 2012, we refinanced CT Legacy REIT’s mezzanine loan and repurchase
facility with a single, new $124.0 million repurchase facility with JPMorgan. As a result of the refinancing, CT
Legacy REIT, and therefore we, discontinued consolidation of CT Legacy Assets as of February 10, 2012.

CT Legacy REIT is not party to any interest rate swap agreements. As of December 31, 2011, CT Legacy REIT’s
formerly consolidated subsidiary, CT Legacy Assets, was party to five interest rate swaps with a notional amount of
$60.8 million and fair value of $8.8 million.

During the period from January 1, 2012 to February 10, 2012, while we consolidated CT Legacy Assets, it made net
payments of $262,000 under its interest rate swaps which were recorded as a component of interest expense. During
the same period, we recognized $291,000 as a component of interest expense for the change in fair value of these
swaps. In addition, as a result of the deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets, we reclassified $1.8 million from other
comprehensive income to interest expense. This amount represents the unamortized balance of prior fair value
adjustments to these interest rate swaps from the second quarter of 2011, when we discontinued the designation of
these swaps as cash flow hedges.

G. Investment in CT Legacy Assets – CT Legacy REIT

As discussed in Note 1, on February 10, 2012, we refinanced CT Legacy REIT’s mezzanine loan and repurchase
facility with a single, new $124.0 million repurchase facility with JPMorgan. The borrower under the new JP Morgan
facility, CT Legacy Assets, is a wholly owned subsidiary of CT Legacy REIT and owns all of its assets, other than
cash. As a result of the refinancing, CT Legacy REIT, and therefore we, discontinued consolidation of CT Legacy
Assets. As a result, its assets and liabilities were deconsolidated from our financial statements as of February 10,
2012.

We have elected the fair value option of accounting for CT Legacy REIT’s investment in CT Legacy Assets, pursuant
to which we record this investment at fair value rather than at our historical cost investment amount. Additionally,
changes in the fair value of this investment are recognized in our consolidated statement of operations. The fair value
of CT Legacy REIT’s investment in CT Legacy Assets was $89.7 million and $90.7 million at February 10, 2012 and
June 30, 2012, respectively.
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The liabilities of CT Legacy Assets are all non-recourse to us, and we are not obligated to provide, nor have we
provided, any financial support to CT Legacy Assets or CT Legacy REIT. We are only exposed to investment losses
in CT Legacy Assets via our investment in CT Legacy REIT, which itself holds only two assets, cash of $15.4 million
and an investment in CT Legacy Assets of $90.7 million. Net of noncontrolling interests, our investment in CT
Legacy REIT is $48.9 million. After giving effect to the $11.1 million which will ultimately be payable under our
secured notes and $7.1 million payable under the CT Legacy REIT management incentive awards plan, our maximum
exposure to loss from CT Legacy REIT, and therefore CT Legacy Assets, is $30.7 million.
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The following table represents summarized financial information for CT Legacy Assets (in thousands):

For the Period from February 11, 2012
through June 30, 2012 (1)

Income Statement
Total revenues $23,100
Total expenses (2) (23,102 )
Net loss ($2 )

As of June 30, 2012
Balance Sheet
Total assets, net book value $687,058

(1) Includes activity and balances of VIEs consolidated by CT Legacy Assets.
(2) Includes interest expense, general and administrative expenses, provisions and

impairments.

Note 7. Consolidated Securitization Vehicles

As of June 30, 2012, our consolidated balance sheet includes an aggregate $419.0 million of assets and $539.9 million
of liabilities related to five consolidated securitization vehicles. Our consolidated securitization vehicles include two
categories of entities: (i) collateralized debt obligations sponsored and issued by us, which we refer to as CT CDOs
and (ii) other consolidated securitization vehicles which were not issued or sponsored by us.

Due to the deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets on February 10, 2012, as discussed in Note 1, we deconsolidated one
CT CDO, CT CDO III, and three other securitization vehicles that are owned by CT Legacy Assets.

CT CDOs

We currently consolidate three collateralized debt obligation, or CDO, entities, which are VIEs that were sponsored by
us. These CT CDOs invest in commercial real estate debt instruments, some of which we originated/acquired and
transferred to the CDO entities, and are financed by the debt and equity they issue. We are named as collateral
manager of all three CT CDOs and are named special servicer on a number of CDO collateral assets. As a result of
consolidation, our subordinate debt and equity ownership interests in these CT CDOs have been eliminated, and our
balance sheet reflects both the assets held and debt issued by these CDOs to third-parties. Similarly, our operating
results and cash flows include the gross amounts related to the assets and liabilities of the CT CDO entities, as
opposed to our net economic interests in these entities. Fees earned by us for the management of these CDOs are
eliminated in consolidation.

Our interest in the assets held by these CT CDOs, which are consolidated on our balance sheet, is restricted by the
structural provisions of these entities, and our recovery of these assets will be limited by the CDOs’ distribution
provisions, which are subject to change due to covenant breaches or asset impairments, as further described below in
this Note 7. The liabilities of the CT CDOs, which are also consolidated on our balance sheet, are non-recourse to us,
and can generally only be satisfied from each CDOs’ respective asset pool.

We are not obligated to provide, nor have we provided, any financial support to these CT CDOs.
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Other Consolidated Securitization Vehicles

As discussed above, we currently consolidate two other securitization vehicles, both of which are substantially similar
to the CT CDOs. These securitization vehicles invest in commercial real estate debt instruments, which investments
were not originated or transferred to the entities by us. In addition to our investment in the subordinate classes of the
securities issued by these vehicles, we are named special servicer on a number of their assets. As a result of
consolidation, our ownership interests in these consolidation vehicles have been eliminated, and our balance sheet
reflects both the assets held and debt issued by these vehicles to third-parties. Similarly, our operating results and cash
flows include the gross amounts related to the assets and liabilities of the securitization vehicles, as opposed to our net
economic interests in these entities. Special servicing fees paid to us on assets owned by these vehicles are eliminated
in consolidation.

Our interest in the assets held by these other securitization vehicles, which are consolidated on our balance sheet, is
restricted by the structural provisions of these entities, and a recovery of our investment in the vehicles will be limited
by each entity’s distribution provisions. The liabilities of the securitization vehicles, which are also consolidated on our
balance sheet, are non-recourse to us, and can generally only be satisfied from each vehicle’s respective asset pool.
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We are not obligated to provide, nor have we provided, any financial support to these other consolidated securitization
vehicles. In addition, both of these investments have been made through our CT CDOs, which limits our exposure to
loss as discussed above. We have recognized losses on collateral assets in excess of our investment in these entities,
resulting in a zero net exposure to loss as of June 30, 2012.

As described in Note 2, our consolidated balance sheets separately present: (i) our direct assets and liabilities, (ii) the
direct assets and liabilities of CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the assets and liabilities of consolidated securitization
vehicles. The following disclosures relate specifically to the assets and liabilities of consolidated securitization
vehicles, as separately stated on our consolidated balance sheets.

A. Securities Held-to-Maturity – Consolidated Securitization Vehicles
Our consolidated securitization vehicles’ securities portfolio consists of CMBS, CDOs, and other securities. Activity
relating to these securities for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was as follows (in thousands):

CMBS
CDOs &

Other
Total

Book Value (1)

December 31, 2011 $357,037 $1,935 $358,972

Principal paydowns (26,161 ) (1,935 ) (28,096 )
Discount/premium amortization &
other (2) (647 ) 140 (507 )
Other-than-temporary impairments:
Recognized in earnings (160 ) — (160 )
Recognized in accumulated other
    comprehensive income 160 — 160
Deconsolidation of CT Legacy
Assets (3) (193,737 ) 29,998 (163,739 )

June 30, 2012 $136,492 $30,138 $166,630

(1) Includes securities with a total face value of $248.9 million and $490.9 million as of June 30, 2012
and December 31, 2011, respectively.

(2) Includes mark-to-market adjustments on securities previously classified as available-for-sale, amortization of
other-than-temporary impairments, and losses, if any

(3) As further described above, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a
result, the securities owned by its consolidated securitization vehicle are no longer included in our
consolidated financial statements. Also, certain securities which are owned by our consolidated
securitization vehicles, that had previously been eliminated in consolidation, are now included in our
consolidated financial statements. See Note 6 for additional discussion on CT Legacy Assets.

As of both June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, all of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ securities were
classified as held-to-maturity.

The following table allocates the book value of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ securities as of June 30, 2012
between their amortized cost basis, amounts related to mark-to-market adjustments on securities previously classified
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as available-for-sale, and the portion of other-than-temporary impairments not related to expected credit losses (in
thousands):

CMBS
CDOs &

Other
Total

Securities
Amortized cost basis $148,978 $30,138 $179,116
Mark-to-market adjustments on
securities
    previously classified as
available-for-sale 11 — 11
Other-than-temporary impairments
recognized in
   accumulated other comprehensive
income (12,497 ) — (12,497 )

Total book value as of June 30, 2012 $136,492 $30,138 $166,630
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The following table details overall statistics for our consolidated securitization vehicles’ securities portfolio as of June
30, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

June 30, 2012 December 31,
2011

Number of securities 34 52
Number of issues 24 36
Rating (1) (2) B+ BB+
Fixed / Floating (in millions) (3) $166 / $1 $358 / $1
Coupon (1) (4) 6.10% 6.49%
Yield (1) (4) 6.61% 7.41%
Life (years) (1) (5) 3.1 2.5

(1) Represents a weighted average as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
(2) Weighted average ratings are based on the lowest rating published by Fitch Ratings,

Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investors Service for each security.
(3) Represents the aggregate net book value of the portfolio allocated between fixed rate and

floating rate securities.
(4) Coupon is based on the securities’ contractual interest rates, while yield is based on

expected cash flows for each security, and considers discounts/premiums and asset
non-performance. Calculations for floating rate securities are based on LIBOR of 0.25%
and 0.30% as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

(5) Weighted average life is based on the timing and amount of future expected principal
payments through the expected repayment date of each respective investment.

The table below details the ratings and vintage distribution of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ securities as of
June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

Rating as of June 30, 2012

Vintage AAA AA A BBB BB B
CCC and
Below Total

2006 $— $— $— $— $— $— $15,098 $15,098
2005 — — — — — — 36,700 36,700
2004 — — 24,762 — — — — 24,762
2003 9,909 — — 3,007 1,973 — — 14,889
2002 — — — — 6,724 — 2,371 9,095
2001 — — — — — 5,427 2,264 7,691
2000 2,893 — — — 19,354 — 3,992 26,239
1999 — — 5,155 — 15,022 — — 20,177
1998 — 2,277 8,019 — 220 — 1,463 11,979
Total $12,802 $2,277 $37,936 $3,007 $43,293 $5,427 $61,888 $166,630
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The table below details the ratings and vintage distribution of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ securities as of
December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

Rating as of December 31, 2011
CCC and

Vintage AAA AA A BBB BB B Below Total
2006 $— $— $— $— $— $— $14,884 $14,884
2005 — — — — — — 7,060 7,060
2004 — 24,780 1,935 — — — — 26,715
2003 9,908 — — 3,011 1,966 — — 14,885
2002 — — — — 6,712 — 2,283 8,995
2001 — — — — — 5,426 1,730 7,156
2000 2,891 — — — 19,935 — 3,985 26,811
1999 — — 11,233 1,414 17,380 — — 30,027
1998 45,956 46,315 37,580 43,607 11,901 — 5,000 190,359
1997 4,434 — 16,159 — 5,223 2,762 3,502 32,080
Total $63,189 $71,095 $66,907 $48,032 $63,117 $8,188 $38,444 $358,972

Other-than-temporary impairments

Quarterly, we reevaluate our consolidated securitization vehicles’ securities portfolio to determine if there has been an
other-than-temporary impairment based upon expected future cash flows from each securities investment. As a result
of this evaluation, under the accounting guidance discussed in Note 2, during the six months ended June 30, 2012, we
determined that $160,000 of impairments previously recorded in other comprehensive income should be recognized as
credit losses due to a decrease in cash flow expectation for one of our securities.

To determine the component of the gross other-than-temporary impairment related to expected credit losses, we
compare the amortized cost basis of each other-than-temporarily impaired security to the present value of its revised
expected cash flows, discounted using its pre-impairment yield. Significant judgment of management is required in
this analysis that includes, but is not limited to, (i) assumptions regarding the collectability of principal and interest on
the underlying loans, net of related expenses, and (ii) current subordination levels at both the individual loans which
serve as collateral under these securities and at the securities themselves.

The following table summarizes activity related to the other-than-temporary impairments of our consolidated
securitization vehicles’ securities during the six months ended June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

Gross
Other-Than-Temporary

Impairments

Credit Related
Other-Than-Temporary

Impairments

Non-Credit Related
Other-Than-Temporary

Impairments

December 31, 2011 $130,360 $114,223 $16,137

Additions due to change in expected
     cash flows — 160 (160 )
Amortization of other-than-temporary
     impairments 106 145 (39 )
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Reductions due to realized losses (26,022 ) (26,022 ) —
Deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets
(1) (25,567 ) (22,126 ) (3,441 )

June 30, 2012 $78,877 $66,380 $12,497

(1) As further described in Note 1, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a result,
these securities, some of which were other-than-temporarily impaired, are no longer included in our consolidated
financial statements.
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Unrealized losses and fair value of securities

Certain of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ securities are carried at values in excess of their fair values. This
difference can be caused by, among other things, changes in credit spreads and interest rates. The following table
shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of securities for which the fair value is lower than their book value as
of June 30, 2012 and that are not deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired (in millions):

Less Than 12 Months Greater Than 12 Months Total

Estimated
Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Loss

Estimated
Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Loss

Estimated
Fair Value

Gross
Unrealized
Loss

Book
Value (1)

Floating Rate $— $— $— $— $— $— $—

Fixed Rate 25.5 (10.6 ) 86.3 (10.1 ) 111.8 (20.7 ) 132.5

Total $25.5 ($10.6 ) $86.3 ($10.1 ) $111.8 ($20.7 ) $132.5

(1) Excludes, as of June 30, 2012, $34.1 million of securities which were carried at or below fair value and securities
against which an other-than-temporary impairment equal to the entire book value was recognized in earnings.

As of June 30, 2012, 21 of our consolidated securitization vehicles' securities with an aggregate book value of $132.5
million were carried at values in excess of their fair values. Fair value for these securities was $111.8 million as of
June 30, 2012. In total, as of June 30, 2012, our consolidated securitization vehicles had 34 investments in securities
with an aggregate book value of $166.6 million that have an estimated fair value of $157.8 million, including 30
investments in CMBS with an estimated fair value of $138.2 million and four investments in CDOs and other
securities with an estimated fair value of $19.6 million.

The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of our consolidated securitization vehicles’
securities for which the fair value is lower than our book value as of December 31, 2011 and that are not deemed to be
other-than-temporarily impaired (in millions):

Less Than 12 Months Greater Than 12 Months   Total

Gross Gross Gross
Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized

Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss
Book
Value (1)

Floating Rate $— $— $— $— $— $— $—

Fixed Rate 154.1 (4.7 ) 130.1 (11.1 ) 284.2 (15.8 ) 300.0

Total $154.1 ($4.7 ) $130.1 ($11.1 ) $284.2 ($15.8 ) $300.0
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(1) Excludes, as of December 31, 2011, $59.0 million of securities which were carried at or below fair value and
securities against which an other-than-temporary impairment equal to the entire book value was recognized in
earnings.

As of December 31, 2011, 35 of our consolidated securitization vehicles' securities with an aggregate book value of
$300.0 million were carried at values in excess of their fair values. Fair value for these securities was $284.2 million
as of December 31, 2011. In total, as of December 31, 2011, our consolidated securitization vehicles had 52
investments in securities with an aggregate book value of $359.0 million that have an estimated fair value of $350.2
million, including 51 investments in CMBS with an estimated fair value of $348.3 million and one investment in
CDOs and other securities with an estimated fair value of $1.9 million.

We determine fair values using third-party dealer assessments of value, and our own internal financial model-based
estimations of fair value. See Note 12 for further discussion of fair value. We regularly examine our consolidated
securitization vehicles’ securities portfolio and have determined that, despite these differences between book value and
fair value, our expectations of future cash flows have only changed adversely for 11 of our consolidated securitization
vehicles’ securities, against which we have recognized other-than-temporary-impairments. See Note 6A for additional
discussion of fair value estimations.
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Investments in variable interest entities

Our consolidated securitization vehicles’ securities portfolio includes investments in both CMBS and CDOs, which
securitization structures are generally considered VIEs. We have not consolidated these VIEs due to our determination
that, based on the structural provisions of each entity and the nature of our investments, we do not have the power to
direct the activities that most significantly impact these entities' economic performance.

These securities were acquired through investment, and do not represent a securitization or other transfer of our assets.
We are not named as special servicer for these investments.

We are not obligated to provide, nor have we provided, any financial support to these entities. As these securities are
financed by our non-recourse CT CDOs, our exposure to loss is therefore limited to our interests in these consolidated
entities. The notional amount of the subordinate debt and equity interests we retained in our CT CDOs is $162.0
million. After giving effect to certain transfers of these interests, provisions for loan losses and other-than-temporary
impairments recorded as of June 30, 2012, we have no remaining net exposure to loss from these entities.

B. Loans Receivable, Net – Consolidated Securitization Vehicles
Activity relating to our consolidated securitization vehicles’ loans receivable for the six months ended June 30, 2012
was as follows (in thousands):

Gross Book
Value

Provision for
Loan Losses

Net Book Value
(1)

December 31, 2011 $814,572 ($201,974 ) $612,598

Satisfactions (2) (33,000 ) — (33,000 )
Principal paydowns (1,741 ) — (1,741 )
Discount/premium amortization & other 129 — 129
Recovery of provision for loan losses — 8 8
Realized loan losses (5,450 ) 5,450 —
Deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets (3) (435,744 ) 99,394 (336,350 )

June 30, 2012 $338,766 ($97,122 ) $241,644

(1) Includes loans with a total principal balance of $339.8 million and $815.7 million as of June 30, 2012
and December 31, 2011, respectively.

(2) Includes final maturities and full repayments.

(3) As further described in Note 1, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a
result, these loans are no longer included in our consolidated financial statements
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The following table details overall statistics for our consolidated securitization vehicles’ loans receivable portfolio as
of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011
Number of investments 18 71
Fixed / Floating (in
millions) (1)

$44 / $198 $280 / $333

Coupon (2) (3) 4.40% 5.11%
Yield (2) (3) 4.80% 5.72%
Maturity (years) (2) (4) 3.0 3.6

(1) Represents the aggregate net book value of the portfolio allocated between fixed rate and
floating rate loans.

(2) Represents a weighted average as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
(3) Calculations for floating rate loans are based on LIBOR of 0.25% and 0.30% as of June

30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
(4) For loans in CT CDOs, assumes all extension options are executed. For loans in other

consolidated securitization vehicles, maturity is based on information provided by the
trustees of each respective entity.

The tables below detail the types of loans in our consolidated securitization vehicles’ loan portfolio, as well as the
property type and geographic distribution of the properties securing these loans, as of June 30, 2012 and December 31,
2011 (in thousands):

June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011
Asset Type Book Value Percentage Book Value Percentage
Subordinate interests in
mortgages $152,247 63 % $225,773 36 %
Senior mortgages 69,383 29 241,323 39
Mezzanine loans 20,014 8 152,934 25
Total $241,644 100 % $620,030 100 %

Property Type Book Value Percentage Book Value Percentage
Office $186,442 77 % $317,940 51 %
Hotel 48,689 20 174,419 28
Retail — — 72,701 12
Healthcare — — 18,837 3
Other 6,513 3 36,133 6
Total $241,644 100 % $620,030 100 %

Geographic Location Book Value Percentage Book Value Percentage
Northeast $98,893 41 % $199,361 32 %
West 78,697 33 152,774 25
Southeast 34,747 14 124,456 20
Southwest 27,434 11 57,046 9
Midwest 1,873 1 24,957 4
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Diversified — — 61,436 10
Total $241,644 100 % $620,030 100 %
Unallocated loan loss
provision (1) — (7,432 )
Net book value $241,644 $612,598

(1) We have recorded a general provision for loan losses against certain pools of smaller loans in our
consolidated securitization vehicles. This general provision is not specifically allocable to any loan
asset type, collateral property type, or geographic location, but rather to an overall pool of loans. See
Note 2 for additional details.
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Loan risk ratings

Quarterly, management evaluates our consolidated securitization vehicles’ loan portfolio for impairment as described
in Note 2. In conjunction with our quarterly loan portfolio review, management assesses the performance of each loan,
and assigns a risk rating based on several factors including risk of loss, LTV, collateral performance, structure, exit
plan, and sponsorship. Loans are rated one (less risk) through eight (greater risk), which ratings are defined in Note 2.

The following table allocates the net book value and principal balance of our consolidated securitization vehicles’
loans receivable based on our internal risk ratings as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

Loans Receivable as of June 30, 2012 Loans Receivable as of December 31, 2011
Risk

Rating (1)
Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

1 - 3 7 $142,651 $142,309 22 $416,032 $415,661
4 - 5 2 78,700 78,610 3 44,057 43,945
6 - 8 9 118,457 20,725 17 271,988 76,784
N/A — — — 29 83,639 83,640

Total 18 $339,808 $241,644 71 $815,716 $620,030

Unallocated loan loss provision: — (7,432 )

Net book value $241,644 $612,598

(1) We have recorded a general provision for loan losses against certain pools of smaller loans in our consolidated
securitization vehicles. These loans have not been individually risk-rated, but have been assessed for loss based
on macroeconomic factors. See Note 2 for additional information.

In making this risk assessment, one of the primary factors we consider is how senior or junior each loan is relative to
other debt obligations of the borrower. The following tables further allocate our consolidated securitization vehicles’
loans receivable by both loan type and our internal risk ratings as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (in
thousands):

Senior Mortgage Loans
as of June 30, 2012 as of December 31, 2011

Risk
Rating (1)

Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

1 - 3 1 $2,774 $2,774 10 $117,452 $117,452
4 - 5 1 65,000 65,000 1 12,551 12,551
6 - 8 1 1,609 1,609 4 43,988 27,680
N/A — — — 29 83,639 83,640

Total 3 $69,383 $69,383 44 $257,630 $241,323

(1) We have recorded a general provision for loan losses against certain pools of smaller loans in our consolidated
securitization vehicles. These loans have not been individually risk-rated, but have been assessed for loss based
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Subordinate Interests in Mortgages
as of June 30, 2012 as of December 31, 2011

Risk
Rating (1)

Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

1 - 3 5 $119,761 $119,521 8 $175,560 $175,314
4 - 5 1 13,700 13,610 2 31,506 31,394
6 - 8 8 116,848 19,116 9 122,306 19,065
N/A — — — — — —

Total 14 $250,309 $152,247 19 $329,372 $225,773

(1) We have recorded a general provision for loan losses against certain pools of smaller loans in our consolidated
securitization vehicles. These loans have not been individually risk-rated, but have been assessed for loss based
on macroeconomic factors. See Note 2 for additional details.

Mezzanine & Other Loans
as of June 30, 2012 as of December 31, 2011

Risk
Rating (1)

Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

Number
of Loans

Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

1 - 3 1 $20,116 $20,014 4 $123,020 $122,895
4 - 5 — — — — — —
6 - 8 — — — 4 105,694 30,039
N/A — — — — — —

Total 1 $20,116 $20,014 8 $228,714 $152,934

(1) We have recorded a general provision for loan losses against certain pools of smaller loans in our consolidated
securitization vehicles. These loans have not been individually risk-rated, but have been assessed for loss based
on macroeconomic factors. See Note 2 for additional details.

Loan impairments

The following table describes our consolidated securitization vehicles’ impaired loans as of June 30, 2012, including
impaired loans that are current in their interest payments and those that are delinquent on contractual payments (in
thousands):

June 30, 2012

Impaired Loans
No. of
Loans

Gross Book
Value

Provision for
Loan Loss

Net Book
Value

Performing loans 1 $15,062 ($15,062 ) $—
Non-performing loans 6 87,479 (82,060 ) 5,419

Total impaired loans 7 $102,541 ($97,122 ) $5,419
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The following table details the allocation of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ provision for loan losses as of
June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

June 30, 2012

Impaired Loans
Principal
Balance

Provision for
Loan Loss Loss Severity

Subordinate interests in mortgages $103,149 $97,122 94%
Total/Weighted Average $103,149 $97,122 94%

Generally, we have recorded provisions for loan loss against all loans which are in maturity default, or otherwise have
past-due principal payments. As of June 30, 2012, our consolidated securitization vehicles had two loans with an
aggregate net book value of $40.6 million which were in maturity default but had no provision recorded. We expect to
collect all principal and interest due under these loans upon their resolution.

The following table details our consolidated securitization vehicles’ average balance of impaired loans by loan type,
and the income recorded on such loans subsequent to their impairment during the six months ended June 30, 2012 (in
thousands):

Income on Impaired Loans for the Six Months ended June 30, 2012

Asset Type
Average Net
Book Value

Income
Recorded (1)

Senior Mortgage Loans $5,642 $168
Subordinate Interests in Mortgages 5,419 328
Mezzanine & Other Loans 6,846 210
Total $17,907 $706

(1) Substantially all of the income recorded on impaired loans during the period was received
in cash.

Nonaccrual loans

In accordance with our revenue recognition policies discussed in Note 2, we do not accrue interest on loans which are
90 days past due or, in the opinion of management, are otherwise uncollectable. Accordingly, we do not have any
material interest receivable accrued on nonperforming loans as of June 30, 2012.

The following table details our consolidated securitization vehicles’ loans receivable which are on nonaccrual status as
of June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

Nonaccrual Loans Receivable as of June 30, 2012

Asset Type
Principal
Balance

Net
Book Value

Subordinate Interests in Mortgages $103,149 $5,419
Total $103,149 $5,419

Loan modifications
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During the six months ended June 30, 2012, there were no modifications of loans in consolidated securitization
vehicles that were considered troubled debt restructurings, as defined under GAAP. A troubled debt restructuring is
generally any modification of a loan to a borrower that is experiencing financial difficulties, where a lender agrees to
terms that are more favorable to the borrower than is otherwise available in the current market.
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C. Real Estate Held-for-Sale – Consolidated Securitization Vehicles

Activity relating to our consolidated securitization vehicles’ real estate held-for-sale for the six months ended June 30,
2012 was as follows (in thousands):

Gross Book
Value

Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment

Net Book
Value

December 31, 2011 $24,960 ($14,618 ) $10,342

Deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets
(1) (24,960 ) 14,618 (10,342 )

June 30, 2012 $— $— $—

(1) As further described in Note 1 above, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a
result, the real estate held-for-sale is no longer included in our consolidated financial statements.

D. Debt Obligations – Consolidated Securitization Vehicles

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, our consolidated securitization vehicles had $518.1 million and $1.2
billion of total non-recourse securitized debt obligations outstanding, respectively. The balances of each entity’s
outstanding securitized debt obligations, their respective coupons and all-in effective costs, including the amortization
of fees and expenses, were as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
2012

December 31,
2011

June 30,
2012

Non-Recourse
Securitized Debt Obligations

Principal
Balance

Book
Value

Book
Value Coupon(1)

All-In
Cost(1)

Maturity
Date(2)

CT CDOs

CT CDO I $95,088 $95,088 $121,409 1.26 % 1.28 %
July
2039

CT CDO II 160,743 160,743 199,751 0.94 % 1.21 %
March
2050

CT CDO III — — 199,553 N/A N/A N/A

CT CDO IV (3) 211,757 211,757 221,540 1.05 % 1.20 %
October

2043

Total CT CDOs 467,588 467,588 742,253 1.06 % 1.22 %
February

2045

Other securitization vehicles
GMACC 1997-C1 — — 83,672 N/A N/A N/A
GECMC 00-1 H — — 24,847 N/A N/A N/A

GSMS 2006-FL8A 50,552 50,552 50,552 1.09 % 1.09 %
June
2020

MSC 2007-XLCA — — 310,083 N/A N/A N/A
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JPMCC 2004-FL1A — — — N/A N/A N/A
Total other securitization
vehicles 50,552 50,552 469,154 1.09 % 1.09 %

June
2020

Total/Weighted Average $518,140 $518,140 $1,211,407 1.06 % 1.21 % (4)
September

2042

(1) Represents a weighted average for each respective facility, assuming LIBOR of 0.25% at June 30, 2012 for
floating rate debt obligations.

(2) Maturity dates represent the contractual maturity of each securitization trust. Repayment of securitized debt is a function of collateral cash
flows which are disbursed in accordance with the contractual provisions of each trust, and is generally expected to occur prior to the
maturity date above.

(3) Comprised, at June 30, 2012, of $198.0 million of floating rate notes sold and $13.8 million of fixed rate notes
sold.

(4) Including the impact of interest rate hedges with an aggregate notional balance of $282.0 million as of June 30, 2012, the effective all-in
cost of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ debt obligations would be 4.07% per annum.

As discussed above in the introduction to this Note 7, our consolidated securitization vehicles generally include two
categories of entities: (i) collateralized debt obligations sponsored and issued by us, which we refer to as CT CDOs
and (ii) other consolidated securitization vehicles which were not issued or sponsored by us.
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CT CDOs

As of June 30, 2012, our consolidated CT CDOs, CT CDO I, CT CDO II, and CT CDO IV, included three separate
issuances with a total face value of $467.6 million. As of June 30, 2012, loans receivable and securities with a book
balance of $175.0 million and $166.6 million, respectively, were financed by our three consolidated CT CDOs. As of
December 31, 2011, loans receivable and securities with a book balance of $208.3 million and $359.0 million,
respectively, were financed by our four consolidated CT CDOs, one of which was deconsolidated as of February 10,
2012.

CT CDO I and CT CDO II each have interest coverage and overcollateralization tests, which, when breached, provide
for hyper-amortization of the senior notes sold by a redirection of cash flow that would otherwise have been paid to
the subordinate classes, some of which are owned by us. Furthermore, all three of our consolidated CT CDOs provide
for the re-classification of interest proceeds from impaired collateral as principal proceeds, which also serve to
hyper-amortize the senior notes sold.

During 2009, we were informed by our CDO trustee of impairments due to rating agency downgrades of certain of the
securities which serve as collateral in all of our CT CDOs. These impairments, combined with the non-performance of
certain loan collateral, resulted in breaches of interest coverage and overcollateralization tests at CT CDO I and CT
CDO II, as well as the reclassification of interest proceeds from the impaired collateral as principal proceeds in all
three of our consolidated CT CDOs. Other than collateral management fees, we currently do not receive any cash
payments from these consolidated CDOs.

Further, due to the hyper-amortization of senior notes, certain subordinate classes are accruing unpaid interest,
resulting in an increased liability to these classes. As senior notes which carry a lower rate of interest continue to
hyper-amortize, and certain subordinate notes continue to accrue deferred interest, the weighted average cost of debt
for our consolidated CT CDOs has and will continue to increase.

In March 2012, the trustee for CT CDO II informed us of an event of default resulting from a failure of CT CDO II to
pay the full amount of interest due to its Class B Notes, which failure resulted from a shortage of funds available to
the CDO for such payments. We are not obligated to, nor have we, provided any financial support to CT CDO II to
rectify this event of default.

When we formed (and reinvested) our four CT CDOs, we made certain representations and warranties with respect to
Capital Trust, Inc. and the loans and securities that we contributed as collateral to these CT CDOs. In the event that
these representations or warranties are proved to have been untrue at the time that the respective collateral was
contributed, we may be required to repurchase certain of those loans and securities. These representations and
warranties generally relate to specific corporate and asset related subjects, including, among other things, proper
corporate authorization; compliance with laws and regulations; ownership of the assets; title to, lack of liens
encumbering, and adequate insurance covering the underlying collateral properties; and the lack of existing loan
defaults.

The maximum potential amount of future payment we may be required to make to repurchase assets is $790.7 million,
the current face amount of all loans and securities in our four CT CDOs. In certain cases, we may be able to reduce the
impact of any such purchase obligation through recoveries from the exercise of remedies against the institution from
which we acquired the asset and received substantially the same representations and warranties. This potential
recoverable amount is not currently estimable and would depend on the nature of the representation and warranty
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breached and the circumstances under which each asset was transferred to the CT CDO. Since inception, we have not
been required to repurchase any assets nor have we received any notice of assertion of a potential breach of any
representation or warranty. Any payment required to repurchase a loan or security could materially impact our
liquidity.

Other Consolidated Securitization Vehicles

In addition to the CT CDOs sponsored by us, which are discussed above, we also consolidate other securitization
vehicles which were not sponsored or issued by us. The debt obligations of these entities are separately presented on
our consolidated balance sheet along with the CT CDOs issued by us, as they are also securitized, non-recourse
obligations. These obligations will generally be satisfied with the repayment of assets in each such entity’s collateral
pool, or will be discharged when losses are realized.
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As of June 30, 2012, loans receivable with an aggregate book value of $66.6 million serve as collateral for the
securities issued by these two other consolidated securitization vehicles. As of December 31, 2011, loans receivable
with an aggregate book value of $404.3 million serve as collateral for the securities issued by these five other
consolidated securitization vehicles, three of which was deconsolidated as of February 10, 2012.

E. Derivative Financial Instruments – Consolidated Securitization Vehicles

The following table summarizes the notional amounts and fair values of our consolidated securitization vehicles’
interest rate swaps as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (in thousands). The notional amount provides an
indication of the extent of our involvement in the instruments at that time, but does not represent exposure to credit or
interest rate risk.

June 30, 2012 June 30, 2012
December 31,
2011

Counterparty
Notional
Amount

Interest Rate
(1) Maturity Fair Value Fair Value

Swiss RE Financial $230,845 5.10 % 2015 ($17,411 ) ($20,540 )
Bank of America 35,502 4.58 % 2014 (1,788 ) (2,368 )
Bank of America 10,535 5.05 % 2016 (1,419 ) (1,461 )
Bank of America 5,104 4.12 % 2016 (575 ) (573 )
Total/Weighted Average $281,986 5.01 % 2015 ($21,193 ) ($24,942 )

(1) Represents the gross fixed interest rate we pay to our counterparties under these derivative instruments. We
receive an amount of interest indexed to one-month LIBOR on all of our interest rate swaps.

As of both June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, all of the derivative financial instruments of our consolidated
securitization vehicles were classified as cash flow hedges, and recorded at fair value as interest rate hedge liabilities
on our consolidated balance sheet.

The table below shows amounts recorded to other comprehensive income and amounts recorded to interest expense
from other comprehensive income for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Amount of net loss recognized Amount of loss reclassified from OCI
in OCI for the six months ended (1) to income for the six months ended (2)

Hedge June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011
Interest rate swaps ($3,749 ) $2,613 ($6,855 ) ($7,837 )

(1) Represents the amount of unrealized gains and losses recorded to other comprehensive income during the period,
net of the amount reclassified to interest expense.

(2) Represents net amounts paid to swap counterparties during the period, which are included in interest expense, offset by an immaterial
amount of non-cash swap amortization.

All of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ interest rate swaps were classified as highly effective for all of the
periods presented. Over the next twelve months, as we make payments under our hedge agreements, we expect
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approximately $10.8 million to be reclassified from other comprehensive income to interest expense. This amount is
generally equal to the present value of expected payments under the respective derivative contracts.

As of June 30, 2012, our consolidated securitization vehicles have not posted any assets as collateral under derivative
agreements.

Note 8. Shareholders’ Equity

Authorized Capital
We have the authority to issue up to 200,000,000 shares of stock, consisting of 100,000,000 shares of class A common
stock and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Subject to applicable NYSE listing requirements, our board of
directors is authorized to issue additional shares of authorized stock without shareholder approval. In addition, to the
extent not issued, currently authorized stock may be reclassified between class A common stock and preferred stock.

Common Stock
Shares of class A common stock are entitled to vote on all matters presented to a vote of shareholders, except as
provided by law or subject to the voting rights of any outstanding preferred stock. Holders of record of shares of class
A common stock on the record date fixed by our board of directors are entitled to receive such dividends as may be
declared by the board of directors subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding preferred stock. A total of
23,173,226 shares of class A common stock and stock units were issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2012.
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We did not repurchase any of our class A common stock during the six months ended June 30, 2012, other than the
6,959 shares we acquired pursuant to elections by incentive plan participants to satisfy tax withholding obligations
through the surrender of shares equal in value to the amount of the withholding obligation incurred upon the vesting of
restricted class A common stock.

Preferred Stock
We have not issued any shares of preferred stock since we repurchased all of the previously issued and outstanding
preferred stock in 2001.

Warrants
In conjunction with the March 2009 restructuring of our legacy repurchase obligations, we issued to our former
repurchase lenders warrants to purchase an aggregate 3,479,691 shares of our class A common stock at an exercise
price of $1.79 per share. The warrants became exercisable on March 16, 2012, will expire on March 16, 2019, and
may be exercised in a cashless manner at the option of the warrant holders. The fair value assigned to these warrants,
totaling $940,000, has been recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital, and was amortized into interest
expense over the term of the related debt obligations. The warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes valuation
method.

Dividends
We generally intend to distribute each year substantially all of our taxable income (which does not necessarily equal
net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP) to our shareholders to comply with the REIT provisions of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue Code.

In addition, our dividend policy remains subject to revision at the discretion of our board of directors. All distributions
will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our taxable income, our financial
condition, our maintenance of REIT status and other factors as our board of directors deems relevant.

No dividends were declared during the six months ended June 30, 2012 or 2011.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following table details the primary components of accumulated other comprehensive loss as of June 30, 2012, and
significant activity for the six months ended June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Market on
Interest Rate

Hedges

Deferred
Gains

on
Settled
Hedges

Other-than-Temporary
Impairments

Unrealized
Gains on
Securities Total

Total as of December 31, 2011 ($27,423 ) $56 ($16,578 ) $3,361 ($40,584 )

Unrealized gain on derivative
    financial instruments 3,749 — — — 3,749
Ineffective portion of cash flow
    hedges (1) 2,481 — — — 2,481
Amortization of net unrealized gains
    on securities — — — (765 ) (765 )
Amortization of net deferred gains
    on settlement of swaps — (56 ) — — (56 )
Other-than-temporary impairments
    of securities (2) — — 203 — 203
Deconsolidation of CT Legacy
    Assets (3) — — 3,879 (2,586 ) 1,293

Total as of June 30, 2012 ($21,193 ) $— ($12,496 ) $10 ($33,679 )

Allocation to non-controlling interest (3) —

Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of June 30, 2012 ($33,679 )

(1) As a result of the deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012, the balance of accumlated
other comprehensive income related to cash flow hedges of CT Legacy Assets was reclassified to interest
expense.

(2) Represents other-than-temporary impairments of securities in excess of credit losses, including amortization of prior other-than-temporary
impairments of $391,000.

(3) As further described in Note 1 above, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a
result, the balances of accumulated other comprehensive income related to CT Legacy Assets, including those
allocable to noncontrolling interests are no longer included in our consolidated financial statements.

Noncontrolling Interests
The noncontrolling interests included on our consolidated balance sheet represent the equity interests in CT Legacy
REIT which are not owned by us, as described in Note 6. CT Legacy REIT’s outstanding common stock includes class
A-1 common stock, class A-2 common stock, and subordinate class B common stock. A portion of CT Legacy REIT’s
consolidated equity and results of operations are allocated to these noncontrolling interests based on their pro-rata
ownership of CT Legacy REIT.
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The following table describes activity relating to noncontrolling interests for the six months ended June 30, 2012 (in
thousands):

Noncontrolling
Interests

December 31, 2011 ($18,515 )

Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests 75,137
Other comprehensive
income attributable to
    noncontrolling interests 10
 Distributions to
noncontrolling interests (7 )

June 30, 2012 $56,625
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As of December 31, 2011, the noncontrolling interests recorded on our consolidated balance sheet was a deficit, which
reflected the consolidated book value of CT Legacy REIT, including certain securitization vehicles in which losses
had been recorded in excess of CT Legacy REIT’s net investment. As a result of our deconsolidation of CT Legacy
Assets during the first quarter of 2012, the impact of these excess losses has been reversed, resulting in a positive
allocation to noncontrolling interests as of June 30, 2012.

Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the calculation of Basic and Diluted earnings per share, or EPS, based on the weighted
average of both restricted and unrestricted class A common stock outstanding, for the three and six months ended June
30, 2012 (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 Six Months Ended June 30, 2012
Net Wtd. Avg. Per Share Net Wtd. Avg. Per Share

Income Shares Amount Income Shares Amount
Basic EPS:
Net income allocable
to
     common stock $2,283 22,893,522 $0.10 $68,836 22,865,819 $3.01
Effect of Dilutive
Securities:
Warrants outstanding
for the
     purchase of
common stock — 1,533,335 — 1,487,570
Diluted EPS:
Net income per share
of
     common stock and
assumed
     conversions $2,283 24,426,857 $0.09 $68,836 24,353,388 $2.83

The following table sets forth the calculation of Basic and Diluted EPS based on the weighted average of both
restricted and unrestricted class A common stock outstanding, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 (in
thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Three Months Ended June 30, 2011 Six Months Ended June 30, 2011
Net Wtd. Avg. Per Share Net Wtd. Avg. Per Share

Income Shares(1) Amount Income Shares(1) Amount
Basic EPS:
Net (loss) income allocable to
     common stock ($1,845 ) 22,723,146 ($0.08 ) $252,740 22,580,143 $11.19
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Warrants outstanding for the
     purchase of common stock — — — 1,444,079
Diluted EPS:
Net income (loss) per share of ($1,845 ) 22,723,146 ($0.08 ) $252,740 24,024,222 $10.52
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     common stock and
assumed
     conversions

(1) Diluted EPS excludes 3.5 million warrants which were not dilutive for the period. These instruments could
potentially impact Diluted EPS in future periods, depending on changes in our stock price.
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Note 9. General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 consisted of the following (in
thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30,
General and Administrative Expenses 2012 2011
Personnel costs $5,165 $4,705
Restructuring awards — 2,750
Professional services 1,765 2,878
Operating and other costs 1,670 997
Subtotal 8,600 11,330

Non-cash personnel costs
Management incentive awards plan - CT Legacy
REIT 181 2,980
Employee stock-based compensation 210 317
Subtotal 391 3,297

Expenses of consolidated securitization vehicles 61 301
Total $9,052 $14,928

Management Incentive Awards Plan

Upon completion of our March 2011 restructuring, we granted senior level employees incentive awards issued under
our long term incentive plan that participate in amounts earned from our retained equity interest in CT Legacy REIT.
The awards provide payments to an employee pool of an amount equal to as much as 6.75% of the dividends paid
(subject to certain caps) to the common equity holders of CT Legacy REIT’s obligations, when and if distributed to us
as dividends. See Note 11 for further discussion.

Note 10. Income Taxes

Capital Trust, Inc. has made an election to be taxed as a REIT under Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code,
commencing with the tax year ending December 31, 2003. As a REIT, we generally are not subject to federal, state,
and local income taxes except for the operations of our taxable REIT subsidiary, CTIMCO. The primary benefit from
this election is that we are able to deduct dividends paid to our shareholders from the calculation of taxable income,
effectively eliminating corporate taxes on the operations of the REIT. In order to qualify as a REIT, our activities must
focus on real estate investments and we must meet certain asset, income, ownership and distribution requirements.
These qualifications have become more difficult to meet in light of the transfer of our legacy portfolio to CT Legacy
REIT in conjunction with our March 2011 restructuring, and the lack of new, replacement investment activity. If we
fail to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we may be subject to material penalties as well as federal, state and local
income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, Capital
Trust, Inc. was in compliance with all REIT requirements.

In addition, Capital Trust, Inc. includes in its taxable income the income generated by investments in our CT CDOs.
Due to the redirection provisions of our consolidated CT CDOs, which reallocate principal proceeds and interest
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otherwise distributable to us to repay senior noteholders, assets financed through our CT CDOs may generate current
taxable income without a corresponding cash distribution to us. See Note 7 for further discussion of these redirection
provisions.

As of December 31, 2011, Capital Trust, Inc. had net operating losses, or NOLs, of approximately $163.1 million and
net capital losses, or NCLs, of approximately $120.8 million available to be carried forward and utilized in current or
future periods. The utilization of NOLs to offset our taxable income or distribution requirements will require us to pay
alternative minimum taxes.

Deferred income taxes recorded on our consolidated balance sheets reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities used for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used in
the computation of our current income tax obligations.
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Note 11. Employee Benefit and Incentive Plans

Stock-Based Incentive Plans

We had stock-based incentive awards outstanding under three benefit plans as of June 30, 2012: (i) our amended and
restated 1997 non-employee director stock plan, or 1997 Director Plan, (ii) our 2007 long term incentive plan, or 2007
Plan, and (iii) our 2011 long term incentive plan, or 2011 Plan. The 1997 Director Plan and the 2007 Plan expired in
2007 and 2011, respectively and no new awards may be issued under them. In March 2011, in addition to the 300,000
shares awarded to our three named executive officers, our board’s compensation committee authorized our chief
executive officer to grant 100,000 shares under the 2007 Plan to other officers and employees designated by him.
These 100,000 shares were awarded to employees in January 2012.

Under the 2011 Plan, a maximum of 1.0 million shares of class A common stock may be issued. Shares canceled
under previous plans are available to be reissued under the 2011 Plan. As of June 30, 2012, there were 633,000 shares
available under the 2011 Plan.

Under these plans, our employees are issued shares of our restricted class A common stock. We record grant date fair
value of these shares as an expense over their vesting period. These shares vest either (i) pro-rata over a three-year
service period, or (ii) upon the attainment of certain pre-specified performance measures within a prescribed
timeframe subject to continued employment.

As of June 30, 2012, unvested share-based compensation consisted of 536,536 shares of restricted class A common
stock with an unamortized value of $1.2 million. Subject to vesting conditions and the continued employment of
certain employees, $934,000 of these costs will be recognized as compensation expense during the second half of
2012 and the remainder will be recognized over the next two years.

Activity under these three plans for the six months ended June 30, 2012 is summarized in the table below in share and
share equivalents:

Benefit Type (1)
1997 Director

Plan 2007 Plan 2011 Plan Total
Restricted Class A Common
Stock
Beginning balance — 244,424 — 244,424
Granted — 375,000 — 375,000
Vested, deferred or forfeited — (82,888 ) — (82,888 )
Ending balance (2) — 536,536 — 536,536

Stock Units (3)
Beginning balance 68,544 438,260 55,531 562,335
Granted and deferred — 60,000 35,784 95,784
Ending balance 68,544 498,260 91,315 658,119

Total outstanding 68,544 1,034,796 91,315 1,194,655

(1) No stock options are outstanding under any of our plans.
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(2) Includes (i) 275,000 performance based awards that contingently vest upon the attainment of certain pre-specified
performance measures, and (ii) 250,000 time based awards that vest based upon an employee’s continued employment on
pre-established vesting dates.

(3) Stock units are granted to certain members of our board of directors in lieu of cash compensation for
services and in lieu of dividends earned on previously granted stock units. In addition, certain of our
employees have elected to defer the vesting of their restricted shares.

A summary of the unvested restricted class A common stock as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was as
follows:

Restricted Class A Common Stock
Shares Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested at December 31,
2011 244,424 $2.65
Granted 375,000 2.77
Vested, deferred or forfeited (82,888 ) 3.56
Unvested at June 30, 2012 536,536 $2.64
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A summary of the unvested restricted class A common stock as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was as
follows:

Restricted Class A Common Stock
Shares Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested at January 1, 2011 32,785 $5.67
Granted 300,000 2.29
Vested (88,361 ) 2.62
Unvested at June 30, 2011 244,424 $2.65

The total grant date fair value of restricted shares that vested during the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
was $184,000 and $231,000, respectively.

CTOPI Incentive Management Fee Grants

In addition to the equity interests detailed above, we may grant percentage interests in the incentive compensation
received by us from certain of our investment management vehicles. In January 2011, we created a pool for employees
equal to 45% of the CTOPI incentive management fee received by us. As of June 30, 2012, we had granted 92.5% of
the pool to our employees and the remainder remains unallocated. These grants have the following employment-based
vesting schedule: (i) one-third vests on the date of grant, (ii) one-third vests upon the expiration of the investment
period of CTOPI, currently September 2012, and (iii) the remainder vests upon our receipt of incentive management
fees from CTOPI.

CT Legacy REIT Management Incentive Awards Plan

In conjunction with our March 2011 restructuring, we created an employee pool for up to 6.75% of the dividends paid
to the common equity holders of CT Legacy REIT (subject to certain caps and priority distributions). As of June 30,
2012, incentive awards for 83.5% of the pool were granted to our employees and the remainder remains unallocated.
Approximately 90% of these grants have the following employment-based vesting schedule: (i) 25% vests on the date
of grant, (ii) 25% vests in March 2013, (iii) 25% vests in March 2014, and (iv) the remainder vests upon our receipt of
dividends from CT Legacy REIT. The remaining 10% of these grants vest upon our receipt of dividends from CT
Legacy REIT.

Strategic Transaction Related Awards

On June 27, 2012, our compensation committee authorized contingent awards in the form of restricted class A
common stock and cash bonuses to our chief executive officer, Stephen D. Plavin, chief financial officer, Geoffrey G.
Jervis, and our chief credit officer, Thomas C. Ruffing. Subject to their continued employment, these awards vest if a
strategic transaction has been consummated, or definitive documentation governing a strategic transaction has been
entered into, prior to December 31, 2012.

These awards provided for grants of 125,000, 100,000 and 50,000 shares of restricted common stock and cash bonuses
of $500,000, $400,000 and $100,000 to Messrs. Plavin, Jervis, and Ruffing, respectively.

Note 12. Fair Values
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value
Certain of our assets and liabilities are measured at fair value either (i) on a recurring basis, as of each quarter-end, or
(ii) on a nonrecurring basis, as a result of impairment or other events. Generally, loans held-for-sale, real estate
held-for-sale, the investment in CT Legacy Assets, and interest rate swaps are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, while impaired loans and securities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. These fair values are
determined using a variety of inputs and methodologies, which are detailed below.

As discussed in Note 2, the “Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures” Topic of the Codification establishes a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in determining fair value under GAAP, which includes the following
classifications, in order of priority:

•Level 1 generally includes only unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the
reporting date.

•Level 2 inputs are those which, other than Level 1 inputs, are observable for identical or similar assets or liabilities.

•Level 3 inputs generally include anything which does not meet the criteria of Levels 1 and 2, particularly any
unobservable inputs.
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The following table summarizes our assets and liabilities, including those of CT Legacy REIT and our consolidated
securitization vehicles, which are recorded at fair value as of June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements Using
Quoted Prices Other Significant

Total in Active Observable Unobservable
Fair Value at Markets Inputs Inputs
June 30, 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Measured on a recurring basis:

Investment in CT Legacy Assets $90,700 $— $— $90,700

Securitization vehicles' interest rate
    hedge liabilities ($21,193 ) $— ($21,193 ) $—

Measured on a nonrecurring basis:

Securitization vehicles' impaired loans receivable
(1) :
Subordinate interests in mortgages $5,419 $— $— $5,419

(1) Loans receivable against which we have recorded a provision for loan losses as of June 30, 2012.

The following table reconciles the beginning and ending balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis
using Level 3 inputs (in thousands):

Loans Real Estate Investment in
Held-for-Sale Held-for-Sale CT Legacy Assets

December 31, 2011 $30,875 $10,342 $—
Deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets (30,875 ) (10,342 ) 89,677
Contributions to CT Legacy Assets — — 31,938
Distributions from CT Legacy Assets — — (38,572 )

Adjustments to fair value included in earnings:
Fair value adjustment on investment in CT
Legacy Assets — — 7,657

June 30, 2012 $— $— $90,700

The fair values of each type of asset recorded at fair value using Level 3 inputs are determined by an internal
committee comprised of senior management including our chief executive officer, chief financial officer and our chief
credit officer and head of asset management. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
value of each type of asset and liability which was recorded at fair value as of June 30, 2012:

Investment in CT Legacy Assets: We have elected the fair value option of accounting for CT Legacy REIT’s
investment in CT Legacy Assets, pursuant to which we record this investment at fair value rather than at our historical
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cost investment amount. We made this election due to our determination that the fair value of the investment in CT
Legacy Assets, as a net liquidating portfolio of assets subject to a non-recourse repurchase facility, is more meaningful
and indicative of our interests in CT Legacy Assets than equity method accounting. Consequently, we arrive at the fair
value of our Investment in CT Legacy Assets by discounting expected cash flows after the repayment of the
repurchase facility. To determine the expected cash flows of CT Legacy Assets, management estimates the timing and
recovery amount for each of its assets, and then applies the proceeds to first satisfy the repurchase facility. The
remaining cash flows are discounted to their present value to arrive at the fair value of CT Legacy Assets. The key
assumptions for significant unobservable inputs are: (i) a discount rate of 20%, and (ii) loss severities ranging from
0% to 100% against the underlying assets. A change in the discount rate used by 100 basis points would change the
fair value of CT Legacy REIT’s investment in CT Legacy Assets by approximately $2.5 million.

Interest rate hedge liabilities: Interest rate hedges are valued using advice from a third-party derivative specialist,
based on a combination of observable market-based inputs, such as interest rate curves, and unobservable inputs such
as credit valuation adjustments due to the risk of non-performance by both us and our counterparties. See Note 7 for
additional details on our interest rate hedges. We have made an accounting policy decision to utilize the so-called
“portfolio exception” under ASC paragraph 820-10-35-18D, and have valued our interest rate hedge liabilities, as
applicable, on a net basis.
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Impaired securities held-to-maturity: Securities which are other-than-temporarily impaired are generally valued by a
combination of (i) obtaining assessments from third-party dealers and, (ii) in cases where such assessments are
unavailable or, in the opinion of management, deemed not to be indicative of fair value, discounting expected cash
flows using internal cash flow models and estimated market discount rates. In the case of internal models, expected
cash flows of each security are based on management’s assumptions regarding the collection of principal and interest
on the underlying loans and securities. There were no securities which were impaired during the three months ended
June 30, 2012. Previously impaired securities have been subsequently adjusted for amortization, and are therefore no
longer reported at fair value as of June 30, 2012.

Impaired loans: The loans identified for impairment are collateral dependent loans. Impairment on these loans is
measured by comparing management’s estimation of fair value of the underlying collateral to the book value of the
respective loan. These valuations require significant judgments, which include assumptions regarding capitalization
rates, leasing, creditworthiness of major tenants, occupancy rates, availability of financing, exit plan, loan
sponsorship, actions of other lenders and other factors deemed necessary by management. The table above includes all
impaired loans, regardless of the period in which impairment was recognized.

Additional details of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ loans which were recorded at fair value as of June 30,
2012 are described below:

Subordinate interests in mortgages: Seven of our consolidated securitization vehicles’ subordinate interests in mortgage
loans with an aggregate principal balance of $103.1 million are reported at fair value as of June 30, 2012, including
three hotel loans ($60.7 million), two office loans ($27.8 million), one retail loan ($4.4 million) and one
mixed-use/other loan ($10.2 million). The loans have a weighted average maturity of December 2011 and a weighted
average coupon of 3.2% per annum as of June 30, 2012.

The following table lists the range of key assumptions used for arriving at the fair value of each of these types of
loans.

Assumption Ranges for Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
Collateral Type Capitalization

Rate
Occupancy Loss Severity

(1)
Office N/A N/A 50% - 100%
Hotel 9% - 15% 75% - 83% N/A
Retail 10% 90% N/A
Mixed Use /
Other

N/A N/A 79%

(1) In certain cases a loss severity based on inputs from third-parties including appraisals on, and bids
for, underlying collateral were utilized to compute the fair value of the impaired loans.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
In addition to the above disclosures for assets and liabilities which are recorded at fair value, GAAP also requires
disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the statement of
financial position, for which it is practicable to estimate that value. In cases where quoted market prices are not
available, fair values are estimated using present value or other valuation techniques. Those techniques are
significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the estimated market discount rate and the estimated future
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cash flows. In that regard, the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent
markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument. Rather, these fair
values reflect the amounts that management believes are realizable in an orderly transaction among willing parties.
These disclosure requirements exclude certain financial instruments and all non-financial instruments.
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The following table details the carrying amount, face amount, and approximate fair value of the financial instruments
described above (in thousands). All fair value estimates are measured using significant unobservable inputs, or Level
3 inputs as further described above.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011

Carrying
Amount

Face
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Face
Amount

Fair
Value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $34,604 $34,604 $34,604 $34,818 $34,818 $34,818
Loans receivable, net 1,619 1,619 1,586 19,282 19,282 17,354

CT Legacy REIT
Restricted cash 15,433 15,433 15,433 12,985 12,985 12,985
Securities held-to-maturity N/A N/A N/A 2,602 29,251 1,638
Loans receivable, net N/A N/A N/A 206,514 435,973 180,439
Investment in CT Legacy Asset 90,700 N/A 90,700 N/A N/A N/A

Securitization Vehicles
Securities held-to-maturity 166,630 248,862 157,843 358,972 490,940 350,180
Loans receivable, net 241,644 339,808 220,450 612,598 815,716 570,936

Financial liabilities:
Secured notes 8,176 8,176 6,965 7,847 7,847 6,436
Participations sold 1,619 1,619 1,586 19,282 19,282 17,354

CT Legacy REIT
Repurchase obligations N/A N/A N/A 58,464 58,464 54,556
Mezzanine loan N/A N/A N/A 55,111 55,111 71,475
Participations sold N/A N/A N/A 97,465 97,465 —

Securitization Vehicles
Securitized debt obligations 518,140 518,140 301,960 1,211,407 1,210,992 767,619

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments,
excluding those described above that are carried at fair value, for which it is practicable to estimate that value:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount of cash on deposit and in money market funds is considered to be a
reasonable estimate of fair value.

Loans receivable, net: Other than impaired loans, these assets are recorded at their amortized cost and not at fair value.
The fair values presented above were estimated by management taking into consideration factors including
capitalization rates, leasing, occupancy rates, availability and cost of financing, exit plan, sponsorship, actions of other
lenders and indications of market value from other market participants.

Restricted cash: The carrying amount of restricted cash is considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair value.
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Securities held-to-maturity: These investments, other than securities that have been other-than-temporarily impaired,
are recorded on an amortized cost basis and not at fair value. The fair values presented above have been estimated by a
combination of (i) obtaining assessments from third-party dealers and, (ii) in cases where such assessments are
unavailable or, in the opinion of management, deemed not to be indicative of fair value, discounting expected cash
flows using internal cash flow models and estimated market discount rates. The expected cash flows of each security
are based on management’s assumptions regarding the collection of principal and interest on the underlying loans and
securities.

Secured notes: These notes are recorded at their aggregate principal balance and not at fair value. The fair value was
estimated based on the rate at which a similar credit facility would be priced today.

Participations sold: These liabilities are recorded at their amortized cost and not at fair value. The fair values presented
above are consistent with those presented for the related loan assets.

Repurchase obligations: These facilities were recorded at their aggregate principal balance and not at fair value. The
fair value was estimated based on the rate at which a similar credit facility would be priced today.
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Mezzanine loan: This instrument was recorded at its amortized cost and not at fair value. The fair value was estimated
based on the rate at which a similar credit facility would be priced today.

Securitized debt obligations: These obligations are recorded at the face value of outstanding obligations to
third-parties and not at fair value. The fair values presented above have been estimated by obtaining assessments from
third-party dealers.

Note 13. Supplemental Disclosures for Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

As described in Note 2, following the deconsolidation described in Note 1, our financial statements include five
consolidated securitization vehicles. The consolidation of these entities has materially impacted our statement of cash
flows, primarily the amounts reported as principal collections of loans and repayments of securitized debt obligations.
Notwithstanding the gross presentation on our consolidated statement of cash flows, the consolidation of these entities
has no impact on our net cash flow.

Interest paid on our outstanding debt obligations during the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was $17.1
million and $63.5 million, respectively. This includes interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities. The
difference between interest expense on our consolidated statement of operations and interest paid is primarily due to
non-cash interest expense recorded on amortization of discount of the Five Mile mezzanine loan, interest rate swaps,
loan participations sold and deferred interest on various debt obligations.

Net taxes paid by us during the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 were $1.1 million and $410,000,
respectively. The taxes paid in 2012 relate primarily to the investment management activities of our taxable REIT
subsidiary, CTIMCO.

Significant non-cash investing and financing activities, which are not presented on our consolidated statements of cash
flows, primarily includes the repayments of our loan participations sold assets and liabilities.

Note 14. Transactions with Related Parties

We earn base management and incentive fees in our capacity as investment manager for multiple vehicles which we
have sponsored. Due to the nature of our relationship with these vehicles, all management fees are considered revenue
from related parties under GAAP. In addition, we have investments which are senior, junior, or pari passu to
investments in our investment management vehicles, which could produce conflicts of interest between our direct
portfolio and those of our managed accounts.

On November 9, 2006, we commenced our CT High Grade MezzanineSM, or CT High Grade I, investment
management initiative and entered into three separate account agreements with affiliates of W. R. Berkley
Corporation, or WRBC, with an aggregate commitment of $250.0 million, which was subsequently increased to
$350.0 million in July 2007. Subsequent to the expiration of the CT High Grade I investment period, we continued to
invest on behalf of WRBC under the CT High Grade I platform on a non-discretionary basis, bringing CT High Grade
I’s total investments to $534.0 million as of June 30, 2012. Pursuant to these agreements, we invested capital on behalf
of WRBC in commercial real estate mortgages, mezzanine loans and participations therein. The separate accounts are
entirely funded with committed capital from WRBC and are managed by a subsidiary of CTIMCO. CTIMCO earns a
management fee equal to 0.25% per annum on invested assets.
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WRBC beneficially owned common stock representing approximately 16.6% of our outstanding common stock and
stock units as of July 20, 2012, and a member of our board of directors is an employee of WRBC. In addition,
wholly-owned subsidiaries of WRBC are investors in certain private funds under Five Mile’s management. As
discussed in Notes 1 and 7, Five Mile provided an $83.0 million mezzanine loan to CT Legacy REIT in connection
with our March 2011 restructuring, and holds a significant interest in the common equity of CT Legacy REIT. In
February 2012 we refinanced CT Legacy REIT’s Five Mile mezzanine loan and repurchase facility with a single, new
$124.0 million repurchase facility with JPMorgan.

In July 2008, CTOPI, a private equity fund that we manage, held its final closing completing its capital raise with
$540 million total equity commitments. EGI-Private Equity II, L.L.C., an affiliate under common control of the
chairman of our board of directors, owns a 3.7% limited partner interest in CTOPI. During the six months ended June
30, 2012, we recorded $1.3 million of fees from CTOPI, $54,000 of which were attributable to EGI-Private Equity II,
L.L.C.

CTOPI has purchased $75.5 million face value of our CT CDO notes in the open market for $40.4 million. These
purchases were from third-parties, and were not sold by us.
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Note 15. Segment Reporting

We operate in two reportable segments. We have an internal information system that produces performance and asset
data for our two segments along service lines.

The Balance Sheet Investment segment includes our consolidated portfolio of interest earning assets and the financing
thereof. The Investment Management segment includes the investment management activities of our wholly-owned
investment management subsidiary, CT Investment Management Co., LLC, or CTIMCO, and its subsidiaries, as well
as our co-investments in investment management vehicles. CTIMCO is a taxable REIT subsidiary and serves as the
investment manager of Capital Trust, Inc., all of our investment management vehicles and CT CDOs, and serves as
senior servicer and special servicer for certain of our investments and for third-parties.

The following table details each segment's contribution to our operating results and the identified assets attributable to
each such segment for the six months ended, and as of, June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

Balance
Sheet Investment Inter-Segment

Investment Management Activities Total

Income from loans and other investments:
Interest and related income $21,479 $— $— $21,479
Less: Interest and related expenses 28,754 — — 28,754
Income from loans and other investments, net (7,275 ) — — (7,275 )

Other revenues:
Management fees from affiliates — 4,433 (1,238 ) 3,195
Servicing fees — 3,754 (369 ) 3,385
Total other revenues — 8,187 (1,607 ) 6,580

Other expenses
General and administrative 3,171 7,119 (1,238 ) 9,052
Servicing fees expense 369 — (369 ) —
Total other expenses 3,540 7,119 (1,607 ) 9,052

Total other-than-temporary impairments of securities — — — —
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments of
securities recognized in other comprehensive income (160 ) — — (160 )
Net impairments recognized in earnings (160 ) — — (160 )

Recovery of provision for loan losses 8 — — 8
Fair value adjustment on investment in CT Legacy
Assets 7,657 — — 7,657
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary 146,380 — — 146,380
Income from equity investments — 901 — 901
Income before income taxes 143,070 1,969 — 145,039
Income tax provision 300 766 — 1,066
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Net income $142,770 $1,203 — $143,973
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests (75,137 ) — — (75,137 )
Net income attributable to Capital Trust, Inc. $67,633 $1,203 $— $68,836

Total assets $563,467 $20,770 $— $584,237

All revenues were generated from external sources within the United States. The Investment Management segment
received intercompany preferred dividend income of $1.2 million from the Balance Sheet segment for the six months
ended June 30, 2012. In addition, the Investment Management segment earned fees of $369,000 for serving as
collateral manager of the CT CDOs consolidated under our Balance Sheet Investment segment as well as special
servicing activity for certain CT CDO assets for the six months ended June 30, 2012.
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The following table details each segment's contribution to our operating results and the identified assets attributable to
each such segment for the six months ended, and as of, June 30, 2011 (in thousands):

Balance
Sheet Investment Inter-Segment

Investment Management Activities Total
Income from loans and other investments:
Interest and related income $69,545 $— $— $69,545
Less: Interest and related expenses 58,543 — — 58,543
Income from loans and other investments, net 11,002 — — 11,002

Other revenues:
Management fees from affiliates — 3,800 (626 ) 3,174
Servicing fees — 1,181 (433 ) 748
Total other revenues — 4,981 (1,059 ) 3,922

Other expenses:
General and administrative 3,428 12,126 (626 ) 14,928
Servicing fee expense 433 — (433 ) —
Total other expenses 3,861 12,126 (1,059 ) 14,928

Total other-than-temporary impairments of securities (4,933 ) — — (4,933 )
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments of
securities recognized in other comprehensive income (3,271 ) — — (3,271 )
Net impairments recognized in earnings (8,204 ) — — (8,204 )

Recovery of provision for loan losses 17,249 — — 17,249
Valuation allowance on loans held-for-sale (224 ) — — (224 )
Gain on extinguishment of debt 250,976 — — 250,976
Income from equity investments — 1,797 — 1,797
Income (loss) before income taxes 266,938 (5,348 ) — 261,590
Income tax provision (benefit) 2,332 (882 ) — 1,450
Net income (loss) $264,606 ($4,466 ) $— $260,140
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests (7,400 ) — — (7,400 )
Net income (loss) attributable to Capital Trust, Inc. $257,206 ($4,466 ) $— $252,740

Total assets $2,360,192 $9,219 ($4,011 ) $2,365,400

All revenues were generated from external sources within the United States. The Investment Management segment
received intercompany preferred dividend income of $626,000 from the Balance Sheet segment for the six months
ended June 30, 2011. In addition, the Investment Management segment earned fees of $433,000 for serving as
collateral manager of the CT CDOs consolidated under our Balance Sheet Investment segment as well as special
servicing activity for certain CT CDO assets for the six months ended June 30, 2011.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(unaudited)

The following table details each segment's contribution to our operating results and the identified assets attributable to
each such segment for the three months ended, and as of, June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

Balance
Sheet Investment Inter-Segment

Investment Management Activities Total

Income from loans and other investments:
Interest and related income $6,763 $— $— $6,763
Less: Interest and related expenses 5,413 — — 5,413
Income from loans and other investments, net 1,350 — — 1,350

Other revenues:
Management fees from affiliates — 2,229 (619 ) 1,610
Servicing fees — 1,498 (133 ) 1,365
Total other revenues — 3,727 (752 ) 2,975

Other expenses
General and administrative 1,642 3,717 (619 ) 4,740
Servicing fees expense 133 — (133 ) —
Total other expenses 1,775 3,717 (752 ) 4,740

Fair value adjustment on investment in CT Legacy
Assets 3,704 — — 3,704
Income from equity investments — 205 — 205
Income (loss) before income taxes 3,279 215 — 3,494
Income tax (benefit) provision — 143 — 143
Net income (loss) $3,279 $72 — $3,351
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests (1,068 ) — — (1,068 )
Net income (loss) attributable to Capital Trust, Inc. $2,211 $72 $— $2,283

Total assets $563,467 $20,770 $— $584,237

All revenues were generated from external sources within the United States. The Investment Management segment
received intercompany preferred dividend income of $619,000 from the Balance Sheet segment for the three months
ended June 30, 2012. In addition, the Investment Management segment earned fees of $133,000 for serving as
collateral manager of the CT CDOs consolidated under our Balance Sheet Investment segment as well as special
servicing activity for certain CT CDO assets for the three months ended June 30, 2012.
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The following table details each segment's contribution to our operating results and the identified assets attributable to
each such segment for the three months ended, and as of, June 30, 2011 (in thousands):

Balance Sheet Investment Inter-Segment
Investment Management Activities Total

Income from loans and other investments:
Interest and related income $32,554 $— $— $32,554
Less: Interest and related expenses 32,296 — — 32,296
Income from loans and other investments, net 258 — — 258

Other revenues:
Management fees from affiliates — 1,786 (191 ) 1,595
Servicing fees — 649 (211 ) 438
Total other revenues — 2,435 (402 ) 2,033

Other expenses:
General and administrative 1,496 3,344 (191 ) 4,649
Servicing fee expense 211 — (211 ) —
Total other expenses 1,707 3,344 (402 ) 4,649

Recovery of provision for loan losses 8,088 — — 8,088
Valuation allowance on loans held-for-sale (224 ) — — (224 )
Gain on extinguishment of debt 937 — — 937
Income from equity investments — 842 — 842
Income (loss) before income taxes 7,352 (67 ) — 7,285
Income tax provision (benefit) 2,000 (939 ) — 1,061
Net income $5,352 $872 $— $6,224
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests (8,069 ) — — (8,069 )
Net (loss) income attributable to
Capital Trust, Inc. ($2,717 ) $872 $— ($1,845 )

Total assets $2,360,192 $9,219 ($4,011 ) $2,365,400

All revenues were generated from external sources within the United States. The Investment Management segment
received intercompany preferred dividend income of $191,000 from the Balance Sheet segment for the three months
ended June 30, 2011. In addition, the Investment Management segment earned fees of $211,000 for serving as
collateral manager of the CT CDOs consolidated under our Balance Sheet Investment segment as well as special
servicing activity for certain CT CDO assets for the three months ended June 30, 2011.
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ITEM 2.        Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

References herein to “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Capital Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically
requires otherwise.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. Historical results set forth are not necessarily indicative of
our future financial position and results of operations.

Introduction
We are a fully integrated, self-managed, real estate finance and investment management company that specializes in
credit sensitive financial products. To date, our investment programs have focused on loans and securities backed by
commercial real estate assets. We invest for our own account directly on our balance sheet and for third-parties
through a series of investment management vehicles. Our business model is designed to produce a mix of net interest
margin from our balance sheet investments and fee income and co-investment income from our investment
management vehicles. In managing our operations, we focus on originating investments, managing our portfolios and
capitalizing our businesses. From the inception of our finance business in 1997 through June 30, 2012, we have
completed approximately $12.0 billion of investments in the commercial real estate debt arena. We conduct our
operations as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes. We are traded on the New York
Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “CT”, and are headquartered in New York City.

Critical Accounting Policies
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, or GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires our management to make
estimates and assumptions with regard to the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates. There have been no
material changes to our Critical Accounting Policies described in our annual report on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 14, 2012.

March 2011 Restructuring
On March 31, 2011, we restructured, amended, or extinguished all of our outstanding recourse debt obligations, which
we refer to as our March 2011 restructuring. Our March 2011 restructuring involved: (i) the contribution of certain of
our legacy assets to a newly formed subsidiary, CT Legacy REIT Mezz Borrower, Inc., or CT Legacy REIT, (ii) the
assumption of our legacy repurchase obligations by CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the extinguishment of the remainder of
our recourse obligations, our senior credit facility and junior subordinated notes. The restructuring was financed with
a new $83.0 million mezzanine loan obtained by CT Legacy REIT from an affiliate of Five Mile Capital Partners
LLC, or Five Mile, and the issuance of equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT to the former lenders
under our senior credit facility and our former junior subordinated noteholders, as well as to an affiliate of Five Mile.

Following the completion of our March 2011 restructuring, we no longer have any recourse debt obligations, and
retain unencumbered ownership of 100% of (i) our investment management platform, CT Investment Management
Co., LLC, (ii) our co-investment in CT Opportunity Partners I, LP, (iii) our residual ownership interests in three of the
CDOs that we issued, CT CDOs I, II, and IV, and (iv) our tax-basis net operating losses. Furthermore, we have a 52%
equity interest in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT. Our economic interest in CT Legacy REIT is, however,
subject to (i) the secured notes, which are non-recourse obligations that are collateralized by certain of our retained
equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT, (ii) incentive awards that provide for the participation in
amounts earned from our retained equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the subordinate
class B common stock of CT Legacy REIT owned by our former junior subordinate noteholders. In addition to our
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interest in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT, we also own 100% of its outstanding class A preferred stock.

Principles of Consolidation and Balance Sheet Presentation
The accompanying financial statements include, on a consolidated basis, our accounts, the accounts of our
wholly-owned subsidiaries, and variable interest entities, or VIEs, in which we are the primary beneficiary, prepared
in accordance with GAAP. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

- 49 -

Edgar Filing: CAPITAL TRUST INC - Form 10-Q

92



Index

Our consolidated balance sheets separately present: (i) our direct assets and liabilities, (ii) the direct assets and
liabilities of CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the assets and liabilities of consolidated securitization vehicles. Assets of all
consolidated VIEs can generally only be used to satisfy the obligations of those VIEs, and the liabilities of
consolidated VIEs are non-recourse to us. Similarly, the following discussion separately describes (i) our direct assets
and liabilities, (ii) the direct assets and liabilities of CT Legacy REIT, and (iii) the assets and liabilities of consolidated
securitization vehicles.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2012, CT Legacy REIT no longer consolidates one of its subsidiaries, CT Legacy
Asset, LLC, or CT Legacy Assets, and instead accounts for its net equity investment in CT Legacy Assets on a fair
value basis. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for additional discussion.

Discussion of Operations
We include below in our discussion of operations: (i) an overview of the operations of our parent company, Capital
Trust, Inc., including its wholly-owned investment management subsidiary, CTIMCO, (ii) a discussion of the
consolidated balance sheet and operating results of Capital Trust, Inc. prepared in accordance with GAAP, (iii) a
discussion of the adjusted balance sheet of Capital Trust, Inc., and (iv) a discussion of CT Legacy REIT.

We believe that our adjusted balance sheet provides meaningful information to consider, in addition to our
consolidated balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP. This adjusted measure helps us to evaluate our
financial position and performance without the effects of certain transactions and GAAP adjustments that are not
necessarily indicative of our current investment portfolio, operations, capitalization, or equity.

See section III below for a presentation and discussion of our adjusted balance sheet.

I. Capital Trust, Inc.

Subsequent to our March 2011 restructuring, our business has focused on managing the operations of our investment
management and special servicing platform, and the recovery from the legacy investments within CT Legacy REIT’s
portfolio. Our investment management business is operated through our wholly-owned taxable subsidiary, CT
Investment Management Co., LLC, or CTIMCO, and includes: (i) management of our public company parent, Capital
Trust, Inc.; (ii) collateral management of the four CT CDOs which we have sponsored; (iii) special servicing of
investments within both our public company and private equity portfolios, as well as for third-parties; and (iv)
sponsorship and management of our private equity management mandates, which are described below.

Investment Management Overview
We act as an investment manager for ourselves and third-parties and as special servicer for certain of our loan
investments, as well as for third-parties. The table below details investment management and special servicing fee
revenue generated by CTIMCO for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Investment Management Revenues
June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011

Fees generated as:
Public company manager $1,238 $626
Private equity manager 3,195 3,174
CDO collateral manager 286 412
Special servicer 3,468 770
Total fees $8,187 $4,982
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Eliminations (1) (1,607 ) (1,060 )

Total fees, net $6,580 $3,922

(1) Fees received by CTIMCO from Capital Trust, Inc., or other consolidated subsidiaries,
have been eliminated in consolidation.

We have developed our investment management business in order to create operating leverage within our platform,
generating fee revenue from investing third-party capital and, in certain instances, earning co-investment income. Our
active investment management mandates are described below:
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•CT Opportunity Partners I, LP, or CTOPI, is currently investing capital. The fund held its final closing in July 2008
with $539.9 million in total equity commitments from 28 institutional and individual investors. Currently, $312.5
million of committed equity remains undrawn. We have a $25.0 million commitment to invest in the fund ($10.5
million currently funded, $14.5 million unfunded) and entities controlled by the chairman of our board of directors
have committed to invest $20 million. In May 2010, the fund’s investment period was extended to December 13,
2011, and in December 2011, the fund’s investment period was further extended to September 13, 2012. The fund
targets opportunistic investments in commercial real estate, specifically high yield debt, equity and hybrid
instruments, as well as non-performing and sub-performing loans and securities. We earn base management fees of
1.3% per annum of invested capital, as well as net incentive management fees of 17.7% of profits after a 9%
preferred return and a 100% return of capital. As of June 30, 2012, CTOPI has invested $470.5 million in 38
transactions, of which $194.4 million remains outstanding.

•CT High Grade Partners II, LLC, or CT High Grade II, is no longer investing capital (its investment period expired
in May 2011). The fund closed in June 2008 with $667 million of commitments from two institutional investors.
The fund targeted senior debt opportunities in the commercial real estate sector and did not employ leverage. We
earn a base management fee of 0.40% per annum on invested capital. In conjunction with the transfer of interests
from one of CT High Grade II’s investors to the other in April 2012, we made a $2.8 million (0.44%) co-investment
in CT High Grade II. As of June 30, 2012, CT High Grade II has invested $588.1 million in 33 transactions, of
which $552.0 million remains outstanding.

•CT High Grade MezzanineSM, or CT High Grade I, is no longer formally investing capital (its investment period
officially expired in July 2008), however we have continued investing the “high grade” strategy through CT High
Grade I on a non-discretionary basis since the end of the CT High Grade II investment period in May 2011. The
separate account closed in November 2006, with a single, related party institutional investor committing $250
million, which was subsequently increased to $350 million in July 2007. As a result of the re-opening of the
platform in May 2011 and the reinvesting of certain realized assets, as of June 30, 2012, we have invested $534.0
million for this account. This separate account has a single investor, W. R. Berkley Corporation, or WRBC, which
is our largest shareholder and designates an appointee to our board of directors. CT High Grade I targets lower LTV
subordinate debt investments without leverage and invested $420.9 million in 12 transactions during its initial
investment period, as well as $113.1 million in four transactions since the platform was re-opened in May 2011. We
earn management fees of 0.25% per annum on invested capital for substantially all of CT High Grade I’s
investments. As of June 30, 2012, $247.0 million of these investments remain outstanding.

•CT Large Loan 2006, Inc., or CT Large Loan, is no longer investing capital (its investment period expired in May
2008). The fund closed in May 2006 with total equity commitments of $325 million from eight institutional
investors. In light of the performance of this fund, we do not charge the full management fee of 0.75% per annum of
fund assets (capped at 1.5% on invested equity), and instead voluntarily capped our fee at $805,000 per annum.
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The table below provides additional information regarding the three private equity funds and one separate account we
managed as of June 30, 2012.

Investment Management Mandates, as of June 30, 2012
(in millions)

Base Incentive
Total Total

Capital
Co- Management Management

Type Investments(1) Commitments Investment
%

Fee Fee

Investing:
CTOPI Fund $194 $540 4.63%(2) 1.28%

(Assets)
 (3)

CT High Grade I Sep.
Acc.

$247 $521(4)  — 0.25%
(Assets)

 N/A

Liquidating:
CT High Grade II Fund $552 $667 0.44%(5) 0.40%

(Assets)
 N/A

CT Large Loan Fund $172 $325  —(6) 0.75%
(Assets)(7)

 N/A

(1) Represents total investments, on a cash basis, as of period-end.
(2) We have committed to invest $25.0 million in CTOPI.
(3) CTIMCO earns net incentive management fees of 17.7% of profits after a 9% preferred return on capital and a

100% return of capital, subject to a catch-up. We have allocated 45% of the CTOPI incentive management fees
to our employees as long-term performance awards.

(4) CT High Grade I ultimately closed with capital commitments of $350 million. Subsequent to the expiration of
the CT High Grade I investment period, we continued to invest on behalf of WRBC under the CT High Grade I
platform on a non-discretionary basis, bringing WRBC’s total allocated capital to $521 million as of June 30,
2012.

(5) In conjunction with the transfer of interests from one of CT High Grade II’s investors to the other in April 2012,
we purchased a 0.44% interest in CT High Grade II for $2.8 million, representing a $2.9 million capital
commitment.

(6) We have co-invested on a pari passu, asset by asset basis with CT Large Loan.
(7) Capped at 1.5% of equity. In light of the performance of this fund, we do not charge the full management fee,

and instead we have voluntarily capped our fee at $805,000 per annum.

As of June 30, 2012, we held co-investments in two of the private equity funds that we manage, CT Opportunity
Partners I, LP, or CTOPI, and CT High Grade Partners II, LLC, or CT High Grade II. These investments totaled $18.0
million as of June 30, 2012, and were recorded as equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries on our
consolidated balance sheet. Our investment in CTOPI includes a $5.0 million incentive allocation to CTIMCO as the
general partner of CTOPI. Our ability to ultimately collect these incentive allocations is contingent upon the
performance of CTOPI’s current and future investments. Accordingly, we have deferred recognition of income from
such incentive allocations and have recognized an equivalent $5.0 million unearned revenue liability as a component
of accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.

Originations
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We have historically allocated investment opportunities between our balance sheet and investment management
vehicles based upon our assessment of risk and return profiles, the availability and cost of capital, and applicable
regulatory restrictions associated with each opportunity. Currently, we are originating investments only for our
investment management business, which are summarized in the table below for the six months ended June 30, 2012
and for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Originations(1)
($ in millions) Six months

ended
June 30, 2012

Year ended
December 31,

2011
  #   /   $   #  /   $ 

Investment
management

     3  /   $42     11   /   $219

(1) Includes total commitments, both funded and unfunded, net of any related purchase
discounts.

Asset Management
We actively manage the CT Legacy REIT portfolio and the assets held by our investment management vehicles with
our in-house team of asset managers. While these investments are primarily in the form of debt, we are aggressive in
exercising the rights afforded to us as a lender. These rights may include collateral level budget approvals, lease
approvals, loan covenant enforcement, escrow/reserve management/collection, collateral release approvals and other
rights that we may negotiate. In light of the recent deterioration in property level performance, property valuation, and
the real estate capital markets, a significant number of our loans are either non-performing and/or on our watch list.
This requires intensive efforts on the part of our asset management team to maximize the recovery of those
investments.

We actively manage our various securities portfolios using a combination of quantitative tools and loan/property level
analysis to monitor the performance of the securities and their collateral against original expectations. Securities are
analyzed to monitor underlying loan delinquencies, transfers to special servicing, and changes to the servicer’s watch
list. Realized losses on underlying loans are tracked and compared to original loss expectations. On a periodic basis,
individual loans of concern are also re-underwritten.
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Investment in CT Legacy REIT
Following the completion of our March 2011 restructuring, we retained a 52% equity interest in the class A common
stock of CT Legacy REIT, comprised of 4.4 million shares of class A-1 common stock and 775,000 shares of class
A-2 common stock. Also, in April 2011, we purchased 118,651 shares of class B common stock of CT Legacy REIT
for an average price of $1.20 per share. The outstanding common stock of CT Legacy REIT is comprised of 4.4
million shares of class A-1 common stock, 5.6 million shares of class A-2 common stock, and 1.5 million shares of
class B common stock. We also own 100% of the outstanding class A preferred stock of CT Legacy REIT, which
initially entitles us to cumulative preferred dividends of $7.5 million per annum. These dividends will be reduced in
January 2013 to the greater of (i) 2.5% of certain of CT Legacy REIT’s assets, and (ii) $1.0 million per annum. As a
result of our consolidation of CT Legacy REIT, these class A preferred shares are not represented on our financial
statements.

The following table details the allocation of CT Legacy REIT’s adjusted equity by class of common stock, and Capital
Trust Inc.’s aggregate investment in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT on an adjusted basis as of June 30, 2012.
The adjusted equity balance is used to evaluate our investment in CT Legacy REIT because it excludes from GAAP
equity items which are not indicative of our economic interests in the recovery of our legacy portfolio. See section III
below for a presentation of CT Legacy REIT’s adjusted balance sheet.

Capital Trust, Inc.'s Investment in CT Legacy REIT as of June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

CT Legacy REIT total adjusted assets (at fair
value) (1) $106,133
CT Legacy REIT total adjusted liabilities (1) (625 )
Total CT Legacy REIT adjusted equity (1) $105,508

CT Legacy REIT equity:
Allocable to Class A-1 common stock $40,222
Allocable to Class A-2 common stock 59,077
Allocable to Class B common stock 6,084
Allocable to Class B preferred stock 125

$105,508

Capital Trust, Inc. ownership by class:
Class A-1 common stock 100 %
Class A-2 common stock 14 %
Class B common stock (2) 8 %

Capital Trust, Inc. adjusted equity allocation:
Class A-1 common stock 40,222
Class A-2 common stock 8,168
Class B common stock (2) 493
Total Capital Trust investment in CT Legacy
REIT $48,883

(1) See section III below for a presentation and discussion of CT Legacy REIT’s adjusted
balance sheet.

(2) The class B common stock is a subordinate class that entitles its holders to receive approximately 25% of the
dividends that would otherwise be payable to the class A-1 common stock, after aggregate cash distributions
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of $50.0 million have been paid to all other classes of common stock.

Our $48.9 million interest in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT is subject to (i) the secured notes, which are
collateralized by certain of our equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT, and (ii) incentive awards
that provide for the participation in amounts earned from our retained equity interests in the common stock of CT
Legacy REIT.
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The following table details our interest in CT Legacy REIT’s adjusted equity, net of the secured notes and management
incentive awards as of June 30, 2012 (in thousands):

Capital Trust, Inc.'s Net Investment in CT Legacy REIT as of June 30, 2012

Gross investment in CT Legacy REIT (1) $48,883
Secured notes, including prepayment premium
(2) (11,059 )
Management incentive awards plan, fully
vested (3) (7,120 )

Investment in CT Legacy REIT, net $30,704

(1) Gross investment in CT Legacy REIT is calculated on an adjusted basis as detailed in the
preceding table. See section III below for a presentation and discussion of CT Legacy
REIT’s adjusted balance sheet.

(2) Includes the full potential prepayment premium on secured notes, as described below. We carry this liability
at its amortized basis of $8.2 million on our balance sheet as of June 30, 2012. The remaining interest and
prepayment premium will be recognized, as applicable, over the term of the secured notes as a component of
interest expense.

(3) Assumes full payment of the management incentive awards plan, as described below,
based on the hypothetical GAAP liquidation value of CT Legacy REIT as of June 30,
2012. We periodically accrue a payable for the management incentive awards plan based
on the vesting schedule for the awards and continued employment of the award recipients.
As of June 30, 2012, our balance sheet includes $3.2 million in accounts payable and
accrued expenses for the management incentive awards plan.

Secured Notes

In conjunction with our March 2011 restructuring and the corresponding satisfaction of our senior credit facility and
junior subordinated notes, wholly-owned subsidiaries issued secured notes to these former creditors, which secured
notes are non-recourse to us. The secured notes had an aggregate initial face balance of $7.8 million and are secured
by 93.5% of our equity interests in the class A-1 and class A-2 common stock of CT Legacy REIT, which represents
48.3% of the total outstanding class A-1 and class A-2 common stock of CT Legacy REIT. The secured notes mature
on March 31, 2016 and bear interest at a rate of 8.2% per annum, which interest may be deferred until maturity. All
dividends we receive from our equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT which serve as collateral
under the secured notes must be used to pay, or prepay, interest and principal due thereunder, and only after the notes’
full satisfaction will we receive any cash flow from the common equity interests in CT Legacy REIT that serve as
collateral for the notes. Any prepayment, or partial prepayment, of the secured notes will incur a prepayment premium
resulting in a total payment of principal and interest under the secured notes of $11.1 million.

In April 2011, we purchased $405,000 of the secured notes at par.

Management Incentive Awards Plan

Upon completion of our March 2011 restructuring, we granted senior level employees incentive awards issued under
our long term incentive plan that participate in amounts earned from our retained equity interest in CT Legacy REIT.
The awards provide payments to certain senior level employees equal to as much as 6.75% of the total recovery
(subject to certain caps) of our legacy assets, net of CT Legacy REIT’s obligations, when and if distributed to us as
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dividends.

Class A Preferred Stock

In addition to our interest in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT, we also own 100% of its outstanding class A
preferred stock, which initially entitles us to cumulative preferred dividends of $7.5 million per annum. These
dividends will be reduced in January 2013 to the greater of (i) 2.5% of certain of CT Legacy REIT’s assets, and (ii)
$1.0 million per annum. As a result of our consolidation of CT Legacy REIT, these shares of class A preferred stock
are not represented on our balance sheet.

Taxes
Capital Trust, Inc. has made a tax election to be treated as a REIT, and therefore generally is not subject to federal,
state, and local income taxes except for the operations of its taxable REIT subsidiary, CTIMCO. The primary benefit
from this election is that we are able to deduct dividends paid to our shareholders from the calculation of taxable
income, effectively eliminating corporate taxes on the operations of the REIT. In order to qualify as a REIT, our
activities must focus on real estate investments and we must meet certain asset, income, ownership and distribution
requirements. These qualifications have become more difficult to meet in light of the transfer of our legacy portfolio
to CT Legacy REIT in conjunction with our March 2011 restructuring, and the lack of new, replacement investment
activity. If we fail to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we may be subject to material penalties and potentially
subject to past and future taxes. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, we were in compliance with all REIT
requirements.
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We have net operating losses, or NOLs, and net capital losses, or NCLs, available to be carried forward and utilized in
current or future periods. As of December 31, 2011, these included NOLs of approximately $163.1 million and NCLs
of approximately $120.8 million at Capital Trust, Inc. The utilization of NOLs to offset our taxable income or
distribution requirements will require us to pay alternative minimum taxes.

II. Discussion of Consolidated Operations of Capital Trust, Inc. 

Balance Sheet Investments
Our consolidated balance sheet investments include various types of commercial mortgage backed securities and
collateralized debt obligations, or Securities, and commercial real estate loans and related instruments, or Loans, all of
which are assets of either CT Legacy REIT or consolidated securitization vehicles. We collectively refer to these as
Interest Earning Assets. The table below shows our Interest Earning Assets as of June 30, 2012 and December 31,
2011 (in millions):

Consolidated Interest Earning Assets
June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011

Book
Value Yield(1)

Book
Value Yield(1)

CT Legacy REIT
Securities
held-to-maturity $— ― % $3 3.31 %
Loans receivable, net (2) — — 207 5.21
Loans held-for-sale, net — — 31 6.26
Subtotal / Weighted
Average $— — $241 5.32 %

Securitization Vehicles
Securities
held-to-maturity $167 6.61 % $359 7.41 %
Loans receivable, net 242 4.80 613 5.72
Subtotal / Weighted
Average $409 5.54 % $972 6.34 %

Total / Weighted
Average $409 5.54 % $1,213 6.14 %

(1) Yield on floating rate assets assumes LIBOR of 0.25% and 0.30% at June 30, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively.

(2) Excludes, as of December 31, 2011, loan participations sold with a net book value of zero that are net of $97.5
million of provisions for loan losses as of December 31, 2011.

In addition to our investments in Interest Earning Assets, we also hold equity investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries, which represent our co-investments in private equity funds that we manage. As of June 30, 2012, our
$18.0 million investment balance relates to two such funds, CT Opportunity Partners I, LP, or CTOPI, and CT High
Grade Partners II, LLC, or CT High Grade II. Our investment in CTOPI includes a $5.0 million incentive allocation to
CTIMCO as the general partner of CTOPI. Our ability to ultimately collect these incentive allocations is contingent
upon the performance of CTOPI’s current and future investments. Accordingly, we have deferred recognition of
income from such incentive allocations and have recognized an equivalent $5.0 million unearned revenue liability as a
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component of accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.
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Asset Management
The table below details the overall credit profile of Interest Earning Assets held in consolidated securitization
vehicles, which includes: (i) Loans where we have foreclosed upon the underlying collateral and own an equity
interest in real estate, (ii) Loans against which we have recorded a provision for loan losses, or reserves, (iii) Securities
which have been other-than-temporarily impaired, and (iv) Loans and Securities that are categorized as Watch List
Assets, which are currently performing but pose a higher risk of non-performance and/or loss. We actively monitor
and manage Watch List Assets to mitigate these risks in our portfolio.

Portfolio Performance - Consolidated Securitization Vehicles
(in millions, except for number of
investments) June 30, 2012

December 31,
2011

Interest earning assets of consolidated
    securitization vehicles ($ / #) $409 / 52 $972 / 123

Real estate owned ($ / #) $─ / ─ $10 / 2
Percentage of interest earning assets ― % 1.1 %

Impaired Loans (1)
Performing loans ($ / #) $─ / 1 $17 / 4
Non-performing loans ($ / #) $5 / 6 $26 / 7
Total ($ / #) $5 / 7 $43 / 11
Percentage of interest earning assets 1.2 % 4.4 %

Impaired Securities (1) ($ / #) $12 / 11 $16 / 14
Percentage of interest earning assets 3.0 % 1.6 %

Watch List Assets (2)
Watch list loans ($ / #) $94 / 4 $78 / 6
Watch list securities ($ / #) $16 / 5 $16 / 5
Total ($ / #) $110 / 9 $94 / 11
Percentage of interest earning assets 26.9 % 9.7 %

(1) Amounts represent net book value after provisions for loan losses, valuation allowances on
loans-held-for-sale and other-than-temporary impairments of securities.

(2) Watch List Assets exclude Loans against which we have recorded a provision for loan losses or valuation allowances, and
Securities which have been other-than-temporarily impaired.

As of June 30, 2012, there were significant differences between the estimated fair value and the book value of some of
the Securities in our consolidated securitization vehicles portfolio. We believe these differences to be related to the
high degree of structural complexity combined with poor reporting available on these securities and a general negative
bias against structured financial products and not reflective of a change in cash flow expectations from these
securities. Accordingly, we have not recorded any additional other-than-temporary impairments against such
Securities. See note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for additional discussion of securities with unrealized
losses.

The ratings activity of our consolidated Securities portfolio over the six months ended June 30, 2012 and the year
ended December 31, 2011 is detailed below:
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Rating Activity(1)
Six

months
ended

June 30,
2012

Year
ended

December
31, 2011

Securities
Upgraded 1 5
Securities
Downgraded 7 22

(1) Represents activity from any of Fitch Ratings, Standard & Poor’s or
Moody’s Investors Service.

Capitalization

We capitalize our business with a combination of debt and equity which has included common equity, preferred
equity, unsecured debt, and secured debt. As of June 30, 2012, our consolidated debt obligations, which are all
non-recourse to us, include (i) our secured notes, which are secured only by certain of our equity interests in the
common stock of CT Legacy REIT, and (ii) securitized debt obligations of consolidated securitization vehicles. Our
equity capital is currently comprised entirely of common stock. From March 31, 2011 through February 10, 2012, we
consolidated the debt obligations of CT Legacy REIT, including its repurchase facility and mezzanine loan, which
were also non-recourse to us.
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The table below describes our consolidated debt liabilities including those of CT Legacy REIT and our consolidated
securitization vehicles, as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

Consolidated Interest Bearing Liabilities (1)
(Principal balance, in millions) June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011

Non-Recourse debt obligations
Capital Trust, Inc.
Secured notes $8 $8

Weighted average effective cost of Capital
Trust, Inc. debt 8.19 % 8.19 %

CT Legacy REIT
Repurchase obligations (2) — $58
Mezzanine loan (2) — 65
Total CT Legacy REIT debt obligations — $123

Weighted average effective cost of CT Legacy
REIT debt (3) (4) N/A 11.14 %

Consolidated Securitization Vehicles
CT collateralized debt obligations $468 $742
Other consolidated securitization vehicles 51 469
Total securitization vehicles debt obligations $519 $1,211

Weighted average effective cost of
securitization vehicles debt (3) (5) 1.21 % 2.68 %

Total interest bearing liabilities $519 $1,334
_______________________________
(1) Excludes loan participations sold.
(2) As further described in Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements, we deconsolidated CT Legacy Assets, a wholly-owned subsidiary

of CT Legacy REIT, in the first quarter of 2012. As a result, its debt obligations are no longer included in our consolidated financial
statements.

(3) Floating rate debt obligations assume LIBOR of 0.25% and 0.30% at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively.

(4) Including the impact of interest rate hedges with an aggregate notional balance of $60.8 million as of December 31, 2011, the effective
all-in cost of CT Legacy REIT’s debt obligations would be 13.46% per annum.

(5) Including the impact of interest rate hedges with an aggregate notional balance of $282.0 and $296.6 million as
of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively, the effective all-in cost of our consolidated securitization
vehicles’ debt obligations would be 4.07% and 3.98% per annum, respectively.

Secured Notes

In conjunction with our March 2011 restructuring and the corresponding satisfaction of our senior credit facility and
junior subordinated notes, wholly-owned subsidiaries issued secured notes to these former creditors, which secured
notes are non-recourse to us. The secured notes had an aggregate initial face balance of $7.8 million and are secured
by 93.5% of our equity interests in the class A-1 and A-2 common stock of CT Legacy REIT, which represents 48.3%
of the total outstanding class A-1 and A-2 common stock of CT Legacy REIT. The secured notes mature on March 31,
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2016 and bear interest at a rate of 8.2% per annum, which interest may be deferred until maturity. All dividends we
receive from our equity interests in the common stock of CT Legacy REIT which serve as collateral under the secured
notes must be used to pay, or prepay, interest and principal due thereunder, and only after the notes’ full satisfaction
will we receive any cash flow from the common equity interests in CT Legacy REIT that serve as collateral for the
notes. Any prepayment, or partial prepayment, of the secured notes will incur a prepayment premium resulting in a
total payment of principal and interest under the secured notes of $11.1 million.

During the second quarter of 2011, we purchased $405,000 of the secured notes at par.
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Repurchase Obligations

As of December 31, 2011, CT Legacy REIT was party to one repurchase obligation with JPMorgan, which was
non-recourse to Capital Trust, Inc., had an outstanding balance of $58.5 million, and an all-in cost of LIBOR plus
2.50% per annum.

In February 2012, CT Legacy REIT refinanced its repurchase facility and its mezzanine loan with a single, new
$124.0 million repurchase facility from JPMorgan, obtained by its subsidiary CT Legacy Assets. This refinancing
resulted in the deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets and with it, the repurchase facility. See Note 6 to our
consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Mezzanine Loan

As of December 31, 2011, CT Legacy REIT was party to a mezzanine loan with Five Mile, which was non-recourse to
Capital Trust, Inc., had an outstanding balance of $65.3 million, and an all-in cost of 18.61% per annum.

In February 2012, CT Legacy REIT refinanced the mezzanine loan and its JPMorgan repurchase facility with a single,
new $124.0 million repurchase facility from JPMorgan, obtained by its subsidiary CT Legacy Assets.

Securitized Debt Obligations

Non-recourse debt obligations of consolidated securitization vehicles include our CT CDOs, as well as securities
issued by other consolidated securitization vehicles which are not sponsored by us.

These consolidated non-recourse securitized debt obligations are described below (in millions):

Non-Recourse Securitized Debt Obligations
June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011

Book Value
All-in

Cost(1) Book Value
All-in

Cost(1)

CT CDOs
CT CDO I $95 1.3 % $121 1.2 %
CT CDO II 161 1.2 200 1.2
CT CDO III — — 200 5.2
CT CDO IV 212 1.2 222 1.2
Total CT CDOs $468 1.2 % $743 2.3 %

Other securitization vehicles
GSMS 2006-FL8A $50 1.1 % $51 1.4 %
JPMCC 2004-FL1A  —  —  —  —
GMACC 1997-C1 — — 84 7.1
GECMC 00-1 H — — 25 5.5
MSC 2007-XLCA — — 310 2.4
Total other securitization vehicles $50 1.1 % $470 3.3 %

Total non-recourse debt obligations $518 1.2 % $1,213 2.7 %

(1)
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Includes amortization of premiums and issuance costs of CT CDOs. Floating rate debt obligations assume
LIBOR of 0.25% and 0.30% at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

Shareholders’ Equity

We did not issue any new shares of class A common stock during the six months ended June 30, 2012. Changes in the
number of outstanding shares during the six months ended June 30, 2012 resulted from employee restricted common
stock grants, forfeitures and vesting, as well as stock unit grants to our board of directors.
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The following table calculates our book value per share as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

Shareholders' Equity
June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011

Shareholders equity ($34,384,947) ($110,423,805)
Shares:
     Class A common stock 21,978,571 21,966,684
     Restricted common
stock 536,536 244,424
     Stock units 658,119 562,335
     Dilutive Warrants — —
        Total 23,173,226 22,773,443
Book value per share ($1.48 ) ($4.85 )

As of June 30, 2012, there were 22,515,107 shares of our class A common stock and restricted common stock
outstanding. There were also outstanding warrants to purchase 3,479,691 shares of our class A common stock at an
exercise price of $1.79 per share. The warrants became exercisable on March 16, 2012, will expire on March 16,
2019, and may be exercised in a cashless manner.

Other Balance Sheet Items
Participations sold represent interests in certain loans that we originated and subsequently sold to one of our
investment management vehicles or to third-parties. We present these participations sold as both assets and
non-recourse liabilities because these arrangements do not qualify as sales under GAAP. Generally, participations sold
are recorded as assets and liabilities in equal amounts on our consolidated balance sheets, and an equivalent amount of
interest income and interest expense is recorded on our consolidated statements of operations. However, impaired loan
assets must be reduced through the provision for loans losses while the associated non-recourse liability cannot be
reduced until the participation has been contractually extinguished. This can result in an imbalance between the loan
participations sold asset and liability. We have no economic exposure to these liabilities.

We have one such loan participation sold loan with a balance of $1.6 million and a yield of 5.25% as of June 30, 2012.
The loan matures on November 6, 2013.

Interest Rate Exposure
We endeavor to manage a book of assets and liabilities that are generally matched with respect to interest rates,
typically financing floating rate assets with floating rate liabilities and fixed rate assets with fixed rate liabilities. In
some cases, we finance fixed rate assets with floating rate liabilities and, in those cases, we may use interest rate
derivatives, such as swaps, to effectively convert the floating rate debt to fixed rate debt. In such instances, the equity
we have invested in fixed rate assets is not typically swapped, leaving a portion of our equity capital exposed to
changes in value of the fixed rate assets due to interest rate fluctuations. The balance of our assets earn interest at
floating rates and are financed with floating rate liabilities, leaving a portion of our equity capital exposed to cash flow
variability from fluctuations in rates. Generally, these assets and liabilities earn interest at rates indexed to one-month
LIBOR.

Our counterparties in these transactions are large financial institutions and we are dependent upon the financial health
of these counterparties and a functioning interest rate derivative market in order to effectively execute our hedging
strategy.
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The table below details our interest rate exposure as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

Interest Rate Exposure
(in millions) June 30, 2012 December 31, 2011
Value exposure to interest rates(1)
Fixed rate assets $289 $844
Fixed rate debt (22 ) (394 )
Interest rate swaps (282 ) (357 )
Net fixed rate exposure ($15 ) $93
Weighted average coupon (fixed rate
assets) 6.27 % 7.29 %

Cash flow exposure to interest rates(1)
Floating rate assets $299 $863
Floating rate debt (504 ) (901 )
Interest rate swaps 282 357
Net floating rate exposure $77 $319
Weighted average coupon (floating rate
assets) (2) 3.81 % 3.59 %

Net income impact from 100 bps change in
LIBOR $0.8 $3.2

(1) All values are in terms of face or notional amounts, and include loans classified as held-for-sale.
(2) Weighted average coupon assumes LIBOR of 0.25% and 0.30% at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of Results of Operations: Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 vs. June 30, 2011
(in thousands, except per share data)

2012 2011 Change
%

Change
Income from loans and other investments:
     Interest and related income $6,763 $32,554 ($25,791 ) (79.2 %)
     Less: Interest and related expenses 5,413 32,296 (26,883 ) (83.2 %)
          Income from loans and other investments, net 1,350 258 1,092 423.3 %

Other revenues:
     Management fees from affiliates 1,610 1,595 15 0.9 %
     Servicing fees 1,365 438 927 211.6 %
          Total other revenues 2,975 2,033 942 46.3 %

Other expenses:
     General and administrative 4,740 4,649 91 2.0 %
          Total other expenses 4,740 4,649 91 2.0 %

Total other-than-temporary impairments of securities — — — —
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments of securities
recognized in other comprehensive income — — — —
Net impairments recognized in earnings — — — —

Recovery of provision for loan losses — 8,088 (8,088 ) N/A
Valuation allowance on loans held-for-sale — (224 ) 224 N/A
Gain on extinguishment of debt — 937 (937 ) N/A
Fair value adjustment on investment in CT Legacy Assets 3,704 — 3,704 N/A
Income from equity investments 205 842 (637 ) (75.7 %)
Income before income taxes 3,494 7,285 (3,791 ) (52.0 %)
           Income tax provision 143 1,061 (918 ) (86.5 %)

Net income $3,351 $6,224 ($2,873 ) (46.2 %)

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,068 ) (8,069 ) 7,001 (86.8 %)

Net income (loss) attributable to Capital Trust, Inc. $2,283 ($1,845 ) $4,128 N/A

Net income (loss) per share - diluted $0.09 ($0.08 ) $0.17 N/A

Dividend per share $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A

Average LIBOR 0.24 % 0.20 % 0.04 % 19.7 %

Income from loans and other investments, net

As discussed in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements, we deconsolidated the assets and liabilities of CT
Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a result of this and repayments in our portfolio, interest income
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decreased $25.8 million, or 79% from June 30, 2011 to June 30, 2012. Interest expense decreased by $26.9 million, or
83%, primarily due to repayments of securitized debt obligations and the deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets. On a
net basis, net interest income increased by $1.1 million as the decrease in interest expense was more than the reduction
in interest income.

Management fees from affiliates

Base management fees from our investment management business increased $15,000, or 1%, during the second
quarter of 2012 compared to the second quarter of 2011. The increase was attributable to net investment activity.

Servicing fees

Servicing fees increased $927,000 during the second quarter of 2012 compared to 2011. The increase in fees was
primarily due to modification activity on loans for which we are named special servicer.
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General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses include personnel costs, operating expenses, professional fees and expenses
associated with consolidated securitization vehicles. General and administrative expenses during the second quarter of
2012 were generally in line with the second quarter of 2011, with a slight increase of $91,000.

Recovery of provision for loan losses

There were no recoveries of provision for loan losses during the second quarter of 2012. During the second quarter of
2011, we recorded a net $8.1 million recovery of provisions for loan losses, which included a recovery of provision
for loan losses of $39.0 million relating to two loans that had previously been impaired, offset by $31.2 million of
provisions against five loans.

Valuation allowance on loans held-for-sale

There were no valuation allowances on loans held-for-sale during the second quarter of 2012. During the second
quarter of 2011, we recorded a valuation allowance of $224,000 against one loan we classified as held-for-sale.

Gain on extinguishment of debt

There were no gains on extinguishment of debt during the second quarter of 2012. During the second quarter of 2011,
we recorded a $937,000 gain on the extinguishment of debt which was primarily due to realized losses on collateral
assets held by consolidated securitization vehicles.

Fair value adjustment on investment in CT Legacy Assets

We have elected the fair value option of accounting for CT Legacy REIT’s investment in CT Legacy Assets, pursuant
to which we record this investment at fair value rather than at our historical cost investment amount. During the
second quarter of 2012, we recognized $3.7 million of fair value adjustments on our investment in CT Legacy Assets.
See Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion. We recorded no such fair value adjustments
in 2011.

Income from equity investments

The income from equity investments during the second quarter of 2012 of $205,000 was comprised of income from
our co-investments in CTOPI and CT High Grade II. CTOPI’s income was largely the result of fair value adjustments
on its investment portfolio, and the recognition of income on investments purchased at a discount. CT High Grade II’s
income was the result of income from operations and fair value adjustments on its investment portfolio.

Similarly, the income from equity investments during the second quarter of 2011 of $842,000 was largely the result of
CTOPI realizing income on loans which were purchased at discounts and satisfied at par during the quarter, as well as
fair value adjustments on the CTOPI investment portfolio. We did not have a co-investment in CT High Grade II in
the second quarter of 2011.

Income tax provision

During the second quarter of 2012, we recorded an income tax provision of $143,000 comprised of an estimated
income tax liability of $178,000 at our taxable REIT subsidiary, CTIMCO, offset by a $35,000 non-cash income tax
benefit due to an increase in the deferred tax asset of CTIMCO. During the second quarter of 2011, we recorded an
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income tax provision of $1.1 million which represents a $2.0 million current income tax obligation at Capital Trust,
Inc., offset by a $939,000 income tax benefit due to an increase to our deferred tax asset at CTIMCO.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

The net income attributable to noncontrolling interests recorded during the second quarter of 2012 and 2011
represents the pro-rata share of CT Legacy REIT’s net income for the quarter allocable to equity interests not owned by
us.

Dividends

We did not pay any dividends on our class A common stock in the second quarter of 2012 or 2011.
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Comparison of Results of Operations: Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 vs. June 30, 2011
(in thousands, except per share data)

2012 2011 Change
%

Change
Income from loans and other investments:
     Interest and related income $21,479 $69,545 ($48,066 ) (69.1 %)
     Less: Interest and related expenses 28,754 58,543 (29,789 ) (50.9 %)
          Income (loss) from loans and other investments, net (7,275 ) 11,002 (18,277 ) N/A

Other revenues:
     Management fees from affiliates 3,195 3,174 21 0.7 %
     Servicing fees 3,385 748 2,637 352.5 %
          Total other revenues 6,580 3,922 2,658 67.8 %

Other expenses:
     General and administrative 9,052 14,928 (5,876 ) (39.4 %)
          Total other expenses 9,052 14,928 (5,876 ) (39.4 %)

Total other-than-temporary impairments of securities — (4,933 ) 4,933 (100.0 %)
Portion of other-than-temporary impairments of securities
     recognized in other comprehensive income (160 ) (3,271 ) 3,111 (95.1 %)
Net impairments recognized in earnings (160 ) (8,204 ) 8,044 (98.0 %)

Recovery of provision for loan losses 8 17,249 (17,241 ) N/A
Valuation allowance on loans held-for-sale — (224 ) 224 N/A
Gain on extinguishment of debt — 250,976 (250,976 ) N/A
Fair value adjustment on investment in CT Legacy Assets 7,657 — 7,657 N/A
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary 146,380 — 146,380 N/A
Income from equity investments 901 1,797 (896 ) (49.9 %)
Income before income taxes 145,039 261,590 (116,551 ) (44.6 %)
           Income tax provision 1,066 1,450 (384 ) (26.5 %)

Net income $143,973 $260,140 ($116,167 ) (44.7 %)

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (75,137 ) (7,400 ) (67,737 ) N/A

Net income attributable to Capital Trust, Inc. $68,836 $252,740 ($183,904 ) (72.8 %)

Net income per share - diluted $2.83 $10.52 ($7.69 ) (73.1 %)

Dividend per share $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A

Average LIBOR 0.25 % 0.23 % 0.02 % 8.3 %

Income from loans and other investments, net

As discussed in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements, we deconsolidated the assets and liabilities of CT
Legacy Assets in the first quarter of 2012. As a result of this and repayments in our consolidated portfolio, a decrease
in Interest Earning Assets of $1.8 billion, or 82%, from June 30, 2011 to June 30, 2012 contributed to a $48.1 million,
or 69%, decrease in interest income during the first six months of 2012 compared to the first six months of 2011.
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Interest expense decreased by $29.8 million, or 51%, primarily due to a decrease in interest expense related to
consolidated VIE’s of $14.0 million and a non-cash interest expense of $3.2 million related to mark-to-market
adjustments on interest rate swaps in 2011. On a net basis, net interest income decreased by $18.3 million.

Management fees from affiliates

Base management fees from our investment management business increased $21,000, or 1%, during the first six
months of 2012 compared to the first six months of 2011. The increase was attributable to net investment activity.

Servicing fees

Servicing fees increased $2.6 million during the first six months of 2012 compared to the first six months of 2011.
The increase in fees was primarily due to modification activity on loans for which we are named special servicer.
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General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses include personnel costs, operating expenses, professional fees and expenses
associated with consolidated securitization vehicles. General and administrative expenses decreased by $5.9 million
between the first six months of 2012 and the first six months of 2011. The decrease was primarily due to (i) $2.9
million of one-time restructuring bonuses paid in 2011 and (ii) a $2.8 million decrease in expenses recognized under
the CT Legacy REIT management incentive awards plan.

Net impairments recognized in earnings

During the first six months of 2012, we recognized a $160,000 impairment, representing additional credit loss on one
of the securities in our consolidated securitization vehicles.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011, we recorded a gross other-than-temporary impairment of $4.9 million on
six securities that had an adverse change in cash flow expectations. In addition, we recognized $3.3 million of
previous other-than-temporary impairments from other comprehensive income into earnings, to reflect additional
credit impairments on these securities.

Recovery of provision for loan losses

During the first six months of 2012, we recorded an $8,000 recovery of provisions for loan losses on one loan that had
been previously impaired.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011, we recorded a net $17.2 million recovery of provisions for loan losses.
The net recovery included $26.7 million in recoveries on previously impaired loans, offset by $9.4 million in
additional loan loss provisions against three loans.

Valuation allowance on loans held-for-sale

There were no valuation allowances on loans held-for-sale during the first six months of 2012. During the six months
ended June 30, 2011, we recorded a valuation allowance of $244,000 against one loan we classified as held-for-sale.

Gain on extinguishment of debt

There were no gains on extinguishment of debt during the first six months of 2012. During the six months ended June
30, 2011, we recorded $251.0 million of gain on the extinguishment of debt. This was primarily comprised of a
$174.8 million gain on extinguishment of our senior credit facility and junior subordinated notes, and a $75.0 million
gain associated with the elimination of a loan participation sold liability.

Fair value adjustment on investment in CT Legacy Assets

We have elected the fair value option of accounting for CT Legacy REIT’s investment in CT Legacy Assets, pursuant
to which we record this investment at fair value rather than at our historical cost investment amount. During the first
six months of 2012, we recognized $7.7 million of fair value adjustments on our investment in CT Legacy Assets. See
Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion. We recorded no such fair value adjustments in
2011.

Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary
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During the first quarter of 2012, we recognized a gain of $146.4 million on the deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets,
which was primarily the result of a reversal of charges to GAAP equity resulting from losses previously recorded in
excess of our economic interests in securitization vehicles which were consolidated by CT Legacy Assets. See Note 6
to our consolidated financial statements for additional discussion. We recorded no such gains in 2011.

Income from equity investments

The income from equity investments during the first six months of 2012 of $901,000 was comprised of income from
our co-investments in CTOPI and CT High Grade II. CTOPI’s income was largely the result of fair value adjustments
on its investment portfolio, and the recognition of income on investments purchased at a discount. CT High Grade II’s
income was the result of income from operations and fair value adjustments on its investment portfolio.

Similarly, income from equity investments during the six months ended June 30, 2011 of $1.8 million was largely the
result of fair value adjustments on the CTOPI investment portfolio due to fair value adjustments and recognition of
income on investments purchased at discount.
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Income tax provision

During the first six months of 2012, we recorded an income tax provision of $1.1 million comprised of (i) an
estimated income tax liability of $2.2 million at our taxable REIT subsidiary, CTIMCO, and (ii) a $300,000 estimated
alternative minimum tax liability at Capital Trust, Inc., offset by a $1.5 million non-cash income tax benefit due to an
increase in the deferred tax asset of CTIMCO. During the six months ended June 30, 2011, we recorded an income tax
provision of $1.5 million comprised of a $2.4 million current income tax expense, offset by a $939,000 income tax
benefit due to an increase in the deferred tax asset of CTIMCO.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

The net income attributable to noncontrolling interests recorded during the first six months of 2012 and 2011
represents the pro-rata share of CT Legacy REIT’s net income for the quarter allocable to equity interests not owned by
us.

Dividends

We did not pay any dividends on our class A common stock during the first six months of 2012 or 2011.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

As of June 30, 2012, our primary sources of liquidity include: (i) $34.6 million of cash on deposit at Capital Trust,
Inc. and CTIMCO; (ii) the class A preferred dividends we receive from CT Legacy REIT; (iii) management fees we
earn from private equity funds and CDOs we manage; and (iv) fees earned from special servicing assignments. Uses
of liquidity include operating expenses; various capital commitments to our managed funds; taxes; and any dividends
necessary to maintain our REIT status. We have no obligations to provide financial support to CT Legacy REIT or our
consolidated securitization vehicles, and all debt obligations of such entities, some of which are consolidated onto our
financial statements, are non-recourse to us. We believe our current sources of capital will be adequate to meet our
near-term cash requirements.

We currently do not have access to liquidity from our portfolio of Interest Earning Assets. CT Legacy REIT owns a
substantial portion of our Interest Earning Assets, the proceeds of which will not be distributed to CT Legacy REIT’s
common shareholders, including us, until the related repurchase obligation has been repaid. In addition, the first $11.1
million of distributions we receive from CT Legacy REIT must be used to repay our secured notes before any cash
flow is available to us. Accordingly, other than the preferred dividends discussed above, we will not receive
distributions from CT Legacy REIT in the near term. We will, however, receive our proportionate share of the
proceeds generated from the CT Legacy REIT portfolio, subject to repayment of our secured notes, once CT Legacy
REIT’s leverage has been repaid.

In addition, as described in Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements, covenant breaches in our CT CDOs have
resulted in a redirection of cash flow to amortize senior noteholders, which amounts would otherwise have been
available to us. The additional principal amortization to senior CT CDO notes are a function of cash received under
each respective collateral pool, and are only required to the extent there is cash flow in excess of the interest expense
otherwise due under each respective vehicle. Accordingly, these redirection provisions cannot result in a cash outflow
from us to our CT CDOs, only a diminution of liquidity available to us.

Cash Flows
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Our consolidated statements of cash flows include the cash inflows and outflows of the consolidated subsidiaries
described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements. While this does not impact our net cash flow, it does
increase certain gross cash flow disclosures.

We experienced a net decrease in cash of $214,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2012, compared to a net
increase of $3.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011.

Cash provided by operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2012 was $6.5 million, compared to $12.4
million cash provided during the six months ended June 30, 2011. The decrease was primarily due to the
deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets on February 10, 2012.

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, cash provided by investing activities was $105.6 million, compared to
$1.7 billion provided by investing activities during the first six months ended June 30, 2011. The decrease was
primarily due to significant loan repayment activity inside of consolidated securitization vehicles in the first six
months of 2011.
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During the six months ended June 30, 2012, cash used in financing activities was $112.3 million, compared to $1.7
billion during the same period in 2011. This decrease was primarily due to significant repayments of securitized debt
obligations of consolidated securitized vehicles during 2011.

Capitalization

Our authorized capital stock consists of 100,000,000 shares of class A common stock, of which 22,515,107 shares
were issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2012, and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, none of which were
outstanding as of June 30, 2012.

Pursuant to the terms of our prior debt restructuring completed on March 16, 2009, we issued to JPMorgan, Morgan
Stanley and Citigroup warrants to purchase 3,479,691 shares of our class A common stock at an exercise price of
$1.79 per share, the closing bid price on the New York Stock Exchange on March 13, 2009. The warrants became
exercisable on March 16, 2012, will expire on March 16, 2019, and may be exercised in a cashless manner.

Secured Notes

As of June 30, 2012, we had non-recourse notes outstanding with a face balance of $8.2 million which are secured by
93.5% of our equity interests in the class A-1 and class A-2 common stock of CT Legacy REIT. The terms of these
agreements are described in Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Securitization Vehicles

As of June 30, 2012, our consolidated securitization vehicles had non-recourse securitized debt obligations with a total
face value of $518.1 million. The terms of these obligations are described in Note 7 to our consolidated financial
statements.

Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth information about certain of our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2012 (in
millions):

Contractual Obligations(1)

Payments due by period

Total
Less than 1

year 1-3 years 3-5 years
More than 5

years
Parent Level
Secured notes (2) $11 $— $— $11 $—
Equity investments(3)(4) 15 14 — — 1
Operating lease obligations 7 1 2 2 2
Subtotal 33 15 2 13 3

Consolidated Securitization Vehicles
CT CDOs 468 — — — 468
Other securitization vehicles 51 — — — 51
Subtotal 519 — — — 519

Total contractual obligations $552 $15 $2 $13 $522
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(1) We are also subject to interest rate swaps for which we cannot estimate future payments due.
(2) The secured notes matured on March 31, 2016. As of June 30, 2012, $8.2 million of principal is outstanding, however we will ultimately

pay $11.1 million at maturity.
(3) CTOPI’s investment period expires in September 2012, at which point our obligation to fund capital calls will be

limited. It is possible that our unfunded capital commitment will not be entirely called, and the timing and
amount of such required contributions is not estimable. Our entire unfunded commitment is assumed to be
funded by September 2012 for purposes of the above table.

(4) During April 2012 we purchased a 0.44% interest in CT High Grade II from an existing investor, representing our initial co-investment in
CT High Grade II. Our co-investment represents a $2.9 million total capital commitment to CT High Grade II, of which our unfunded
commitment is $480,000 as of June 30, 2012. As CT High Grade II’s investment period has expired, our entire unfunded commitment is
assumed funded in more than five years for purposes of the above table.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

III. Non-GAAP Disclosures: Adjusted Balance Sheet

We believe that our adjusted balance sheet provides meaningful information to consider, in addition to our
consolidated balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP. This adjusted measure helps us to evaluate our
financial position and performance without the effects of certain transactions and GAAP adjustments that are not
necessarily indicative of our current investment portfolio, operations, capitalization, or shareholders’ equity.

We believe that the accounting for loan participations sold as well as the consolidation of VIEs, in particular the
consolidation of non-recourse securitization vehicles, while in accordance with GAAP, has resulted in a presentation
of gross assets and liabilities, provisions/impairments, and operations being recorded in excess of our economic
interests in such entities. Accordingly, our adjusted balance sheet (i) eliminates loan participations sold, and (ii)
deconsolidates securitization vehicles which are presented gross in accordance with GAAP, and shows instead our
cash investment in these non-recourse entities, adjusted for losses expected or incurred. Due to the non-recourse
nature of these entities, our investment amount cannot be less than zero on a cash basis. We also separately show our
financial position from that of CT Legacy REIT.

In addition, beginning in the first quarter of 2012 we ceased consolidation of CT Legacy Assets, a subsidiary of CT
Legacy REIT, in our GAAP financial statements and instead record a net investment in that pool of assets and
liabilities on a fair value basis. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion. Consistent
with this fair value presentation in our consolidated financial statements, we have adjusted the liabilities we would
incur under our secured notes and management incentive awards plan based on the valuation of CT Legacy REIT as of
June 30, 2012.

Our adjusted balance sheet is not an alternative or substitute for our consolidated balance sheet prepared in accordance
with GAAP as a measure of our financial position. Rather, we believe that our adjusted balance sheet is an additional
measure that is a valuable tool for analyzing our business. Our adjusted balance sheet should not be viewed as an
alternative measure of shareholders’ equity, and we may not prepare our adjusted balance sheet in the same manner as
other companies that use a similarly titled measure.

As a result of the changes in our consolidated financial statements following the deconsolidation of CT Legacy Assets
described above, we no longer present adjusted operating results. We no longer review these adjusted operating results
in monitoring our business, and with their exclusion from our consolidated statement of operations do not believe they
would provide additional meaningful information about our business.
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The following table details the transition from our consolidated balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP to
the adjusted balance sheets of Capital Trust, Inc. and CT Legacy REIT, as of June 30, 2012:

Adjusted Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2012
(in thousands, except per share data) Adjusted Balance Sheet

Consolidated
GAAP CT Legacy Capital

Capital Trust,
Inc.

Adjustments
(1)(2)(3)(4) REIT Trust, Inc.

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $34,604 $— $— $34,604
Loans receivable, net 1,619 (1,619 ) — —
Equity investments in
unconsolidated
subsidiaries 17,978 (3,660 ) — 14,318
Investment in CT Legacy
REIT — 48,883 — 48,883
Deferred income taxes 2,727 — — 2,727
Prepaid expenses and
other assets 2,207 625 — 2,832
Subtotal 59,135 44,229 — 103,364

Assets of Consolidated
Entities
CT Legacy REIT
Restricted cash 15,433 — 15,433 —
Investment in CT Legacy
Asset, at fair value 90,700 — 90,700 —
Subtotal 106,133 — 106,133 —

Assets of consolidated
securitization vehicles 418,969 (418,969 ) — —

Total/adjusted assets $584,237 ($374,740 ) $106,133 $103,364

Liabilities &
Shareholders' Equity

Accounts payable,
accrued expenses and
other liabilities $12,320 $225 $— $12,545
Secured notes 8,176 2,883 — 11,059
Participations sold 1,619 (1,619 ) — —
Subtotal 22,115 1,489 — 23,604

Non-Recourse Liabilities
of Consolidated Entities
CT Legacy REIT
Accounts payable,
accrued expenses and

— 625 625 —
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other liabilities
Subtotal — 625 625 —

Liabilities of consolidated
securitization vehicles 539,882 (539,882 ) — —

Total/adjusted liabilities 561,997 (537,768 ) 625 23,604

Total/adjusted equity (34,385 ) 219,653 105,508 79,760

Noncontrolling interests 56,625 (56,625 ) — —

Total/adjusted liabilities
and shareholders' equity $584,237 ($374,740 ) $106,133 $103,364

Capital Trust, Inc. book value/adjusted book value per share:
Basic ($1.48 ) $3.44
Diluted ($1.48 ) $3.21

(1) All securitization vehicles have been deconsolidated and reported at our cash investment amount, adjusted for
current losses relative to our equity investment in each vehicle. Due to the non-recourse nature of these entities,
our investment cannot be less than zero on a cash basis. See note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for
discussion of consolidated securitization vehicles.

(2) Loan participations which have been sold to third-parties, and did not qualify for sale accounting, have been eliminated. See Note 3 to our
consolidated financial statements for discussion of loan participations sold.

(3) Incentive allocations to CTIMCO from our investment management vehicles have been excluded from our
adjusted balance sheet. These incentive allocations will only be paid to CTIMCO in the future contingent on the
ultimate performance of such vehicles.

(4) Liabilities under our secured notes and the management incentive awards, the payments of which are linked to our gross recovery from
CT Legacy REIT, have been adjusted to reflect what would be paid in a liquidation of CT Legacy REIT based on its adjusted balance
sheet as of June 30, 2012.
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Quarterly Performance
The following table describes the activity in Capital Trust, Inc.’s balance sheet accounts, on an adjusted basis, during
the second quarter of 2012:

Comparison of adjusted balance sheet of Capital Trust, Inc: As of June 30, 2012 vs. March 31, 2012
(in thousands)

June 30, 2012 March 31, 2012 Change % Change
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $34,604 $37,198 ($2,594 ) (7.0 %)
Equity investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries 14,318 10,681 3,637 34.1 %
Investment in CT Legacy REIT 48,883 48,122 761 0.9 %
Deferred income taxes 2,727 2,691 36 1.3 %
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,832 2,541 291 11.5 %
Total adjusted assets $103,364 $101,233 $2,131 2.1 %

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and
other liabilities $12,545 $11,899 $646 5.43 %
Secured notes 11,059 11,059 — ― %
Total adjusted liabilities 23,604 22,958 646 2.81 %

Total Adjusted Shareholders' Equity 79,760 78,275 1,485 1.9 %

Total adjusted liabilities and shareholders'
equity $103,364 $101,233 $2,131 2.1 %

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $2.6 million during the first quarter of 2012. This was primarily due to (i)
payments of $3.0 million of general and administrative expenses, (ii) a $2.8 million co-investment in CT High Grade
II, (iii) $2.0 million of income tax payments, and (iv) net capital contributions of $641,000 to CTOPI. This was offset
by (i) $1.9 million of preferred dividend distributions received from CT Legacy REIT, (ii) $1.7 million of investment
management and CDO collateral management fees received from affiliates, (iii) $785,000 of special servicing fees,
and (iv) a $1.4 million tax advance from CTOPI.

Equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries

The increase of $3.6 million was due to (i) a $2.8 million co-investment in CT High Grade II, (ii) net capital
contributions of $641,000 to CTOPI, and (iii) $205,000 of income recognized from our co-investments in CTOPI and
CT High Grade II.

Investment in CT Legacy REIT
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The increase of $761,000 represents our allocable share of the increase in the adjusted equity of CT Legacy REIT. CT
Legacy REIT’s equity increased during the period as a result of $2.9 million of net cash collections, offset by a $1.1
million decline in the fair value of CT Legacy Assets.

Deferred income taxes

The increase in deferred income taxes was primarily due to the timing difference between GAAP and tax in
connection with the recognition of expenses related to our CT Legacy REIT management incentive awards plan.

Prepaid expenses and other assets

The increase in prepaid expenses and other assets was primarily due to the accrual of special servicing fees that were
earned during the second quarter, but were collected subsequent to quarter-end.

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

The increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities was primarily due to (i) a $1.4 million
payable for the potential refund of the tax advance received from CTOPI, and (ii) $1.2 million of various corporate
expense accruals. This was offset by our payment of $2.0 million of previously accrued income taxes.
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IV. CT Legacy REIT

As further discussed above, in conjunction with our March 2011 restructuring, we have transferred a significant
portion of our legacy portfolio to CT Legacy Assets, a wholly owned subsidiary of CT Legacy REIT. Subsequent to
our March 2011 restructuring, the CT Legacy Assets portfolio received principal repayments of $299.4 million, which
repayments represent approximately 60% of the initial net book value of the portfolio. Proceeds from these
repayments have primarily been used to repay debt, including (i) a $20.0 million repayment of the mezzanine loan at
CT Legacy REIT, and (ii) repayments of $271.7 million of legacy repurchase obligations. In the aggregate, 75% of the
debt obligations of CT Legacy REIT and its subsidiaries have been repaid since our March 2011 restructuring.

In addition, in February 2012, we refinanced CT Legacy Assets’ repurchase facility and CT Legacy REIT’s mezzanine
loan with a single, new $124.0 million repurchase facility with JPMorgan, obtained by its subsidiary CT Legacy
Assets. The new facility matures in December 2014, and carries a rate of LIBOR+6.00% as of June 30, 2012. Periodic
repayment targets must be met under the facility, which require the outstanding balance be reduced to: $100.0 million
by December 31, 2012, $80.0 million by June 30, 2013, and $40.0 million by December 31, 2013. In addition, the
facility’s interest rate is subject to increase by 0.50% per annum if the outstanding balance of the facility has not been
reduced to $60.0 million as of December 31, 2012. As of June 30, 2012, the outstanding balance of the facility was
$96.0 million and it was collateralized by the majority of CT Legacy Assets’ investment portfolio, including loans with
an aggregate principal balance of $344.6 million and securities with an aggregate face balance of $139.4 million.

Note on Forward-Looking Statements
Except for historical information contained herein, this quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which involve
certain risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are included with respect to, among other things, our
current business plan, business and investment strategy, access to capital and portfolio management. These
forward-looking statements are identified by their use of such terms and phrases as “intend,” “goal,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“project,” “projections,” “plans,” “seeks,” “anticipates,” “should,” “could,” “may,” “designed to,” “foreseeable future,” “believe,” “scheduled”
and similar expressions. Our actual results or outcomes may differ materially from those anticipated. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the
statement was made. We assume no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Important factors that we believe might cause actual results to differ from any results expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements are discussed in the risk factors contained in Exhibit 99.1 to this Form 10-Q, which are
incorporated herein by reference. In assessing forward-looking statements contained herein, readers are urged to read
carefully all cautionary statements contained in this Form 10-Q.
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ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk
The principal objective of our asset and liability management activities is to maximize net interest income while
minimizing levels of interest rate risk. Interest income and interest expense are subject to the risk of interest rate
fluctuations. In certain instances, to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in interest rates, we use interest rate swaps to
effectively convert floating rate liabilities to fixed rate liabilities for proper matching with fixed rate assets. Each
derivative used as a hedge is matched with a liability with which it is expected to have a high correlation. The swap
agreements are generally held-to-maturity and we do not use interest rate derivative financial instruments for trading
purposes. The differential to be paid or received on these agreements is recognized as an adjustment to interest
expense and is recognized on the accrual basis.

As of June 30, 2012, a 100 basis point change in LIBOR would impact our net income (loss) by approximately
$771,000.

Credit Risk
Our loans and investments, including our fund investments, are also subject to credit risk. The ultimate performance
and value of our loans and investments depends upon the owners’ ability to operate the properties that serve as our
collateral so that they produce cash flows adequate to pay interest and principal due to us. To monitor this risk, our
asset management team continuously reviews our investment portfolio and in certain instances is in constant contact
with our borrowers, monitoring performance of the collateral and enforcing our rights as necessary.

The following table provides information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates
as of June 30, 2012, including instruments in consolidated securitization vehicles. For financial assets and debt
obligations, the table presents face balance and weighted average interest rates. For interest rate swaps, the table
presents notional amounts and weighted average fixed pay and floating receive interest rates. These notional amounts
are used to calculate the contractual cash flows to be exchanged under each contract.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Sensitive to Changes in Interest Rates as of June 30, 2012
(in thousands)

Capital Trust, Inc. Debt Obligations:

Secured Notes
    Fixed rate debt $8,176
       Interest rate(1) 8.19 %
    Floating rate debt $—
       Interest rate(1) —

Assets of Consolidated Securitization Vehicles:

Securities Loans Receivable Total
    Fixed rate assets $240,315 $48,893 $289,208
       Interest rate(1) 6.04 % 7.53 % 6.29 %
    Floating rate assets $8,547 $290,915 $299,462
       Interest rate(1) 1.64 % 3.88 % 3.81 %

Non-Recourse Debt Obligations of Consolidated Securitization Vehicles:
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CT CDOs Other Vehicles Total
    Fixed rate debt $13,769 $— $13,769
       Interest rate(1) 6.83 % ― % 6.83 %
    Floating rate debt $453,819 $50,552 $504,371
       Interest rate(1) 0.88 % 1.09 % 0.90 %

Derivative Financial Instruments of Consolidated Securitization Vehicles:

    Notional amounts $281,986
      Fixed pay rate(1) 5.01 %
      Floating receive
rate(1) 0.25 %

(1) Represents weighted average rates where applicable. Floating rates are based on LIBOR of 0.25%,
which is the rate as of June 30, 2012.

- 71 -

Edgar Filing: CAPITAL TRUST INC - Form 10-Q

132



Index

ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), as of the end of the
period covered by this quarterly report was made under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (a) are effective to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms and (b) include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
There have been no significant changes in our “internal control over financial reporting” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of
the Exchange Act) that occurred during the period covered by this quarterly report that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1: Legal Proceedings
The Company prevailed on its motion and was dismissed from the previously disclosed lawsuit commenced by Philips
International Investments, LLC.

ITEM 1A: Risk Factors
In addition to the other information discussed in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, please consider the risk factors
provided in our updated risk factors attached as Exhibit 99.1 hereto, which could materially affect our business,
financial condition or future results. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we deem to be
immaterial may adversely affect our business, financial condition, or operating results.

ITEM 2: Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.

ITEM 3: Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

ITEM 4: Mine Safety Disclosures
None.

ITEM 5: Other Information
None.
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ITEM 6: Exhibits

3.1a Charter of Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1.a to Capital Trust, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on April 2, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference).

3.1b Certificate of Notice (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on February 27, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference).

3.2a Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of Capital Trust, Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 3.2 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 1-14788) filed on February 27, 2007 and incorporated herein by
reference).

3.2b First Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of Capital
Trust, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Capital Trust, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 1-14788) filed on July 26, 2011 and incorporated herein
by reference).

· #++ 10.1 Form of Annual Bonus Award Agreement.

· # 10.2 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement relating to the Capital Trust,
Inc. 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

· # 10.3 Form of Special Transaction Bonus Award Agreement.

· 31.1 Certification of Stephen D. Plavin, Chief Executive Officer, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

· 31.2 Certification of Geoffrey G. Jervis, Chief Financial Officer, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

+ 32.1 Certification of Stephen D. Plavin, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350,  as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

+ 32.2 Certification of Geoffrey G. Jervis, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350,  as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

· 99.1 Updated Risk Factors from Capital Trust, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, filed on February 14, 2012 with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.

* 101.INS XBRL Instance Document

* 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
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* 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

* 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

* 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

________________________
• Filed herewith

# Represents a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

+This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”) or otherwise subject to the liability of that Section. Such exhibit shall not be deemed
incorporated into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act.

++Portions of this exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to a confidential treatment request under Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act.

∗Attached as Exhibit 101 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are the following materials, formatted in XBRL
(Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30, 2012 and December 31,
2011; (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011;
(iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three and six months ended June 30,
2012 and 2011; (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficit) for the six months ended June 30,
2012 and 2011; (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011;
and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, this interactive data file is deemed not “filed” or part of a registration
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act, is deemed not “filed” for purposes of
Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CAPITAL TRUST, INC.

August 1, 2012 By: /s/ Stephen D. Plavin
Date   Stephen D. Plavin

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal executive officer)

August 1, 2012 By:/s/ Geoffrey G. Jervis
Date Geoffrey G. Jervis

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal financial officer and
Principal accounting officer)
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